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CHAPTER VIII

PEACETIME ATTACKS ON NAVY SHIPS

One of the most difficult missions assigned the Navy
is operations in the immediate vicinity of potentially
hostile forces during an international crisis (r armed
conflict. The political importance and potential dangers of
such missions are generally recognized. Not as well
understood, however, is that routine naval missions viewed
as non-political or ordered for peacetime military objec-
tives rather thar. for political purposes almost always have
important political undertones and can generate significant
international political repercussions if an unanticipated
incident were to occur during the mission. For this reason
certain "non-political” missions, such as intelligence col-
lection or surveillance near a potentially hostile country
or the scene of fighting, need to be viewed as political in
nature even though not ordered for political purposes.

This chapter presents the third phase of the research
design, a structured focused comparison of four cases in
which a U.S. Navy ship was attacked during peacetime or
crisis operations. The purpose of this chapter is to
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further develop and refiine contingent generalizations on the
corollaries to the theory of stratified interaction. The
focus will be on how the military and naval chain of command
reacted to the attacks.

The incidents that will be examined are the August
1964 Tonkin Gulf Incidents, the June 8, 1967 Israeli attack
on the intelligence collection ship USS Liberty (AGTR 5),
the January 22, 1968 North Korean seizure of the intelli-
gence collection ship USS Pueblo (AGER 2), and the May 10,
1987 Iraqi attack on the guided missile frigate USS Stark
(FFG 31). Four of the eight questions asked in the previous
chapter will again be asked in these cases. The four
questions address decoupling of stratified interactions,
stratified escalation dynamics, misperceptions, and
political-military tensions.

The first question is did interactions at the tactical
and political levels become decoupled during or after the
attack on the Navy ship? The theory of stratified inter-
action states that under certain conditions crisis
interactions are stratified into three levels: political
(between national leaders), strategic (between major
military commands), and tactical (between on-scene forces).
The previous chapter showed that the conditions necessary
for stratified interactions are usually present in crises.
Decoupling of stratified interactions occurs to the extent

that operational decisions on the employment »f military
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forces made at the strategic and tactical levels differ from
the decisions that political-level zuthorities would have
made to coordinate military actions with their political-
military objectives in the crisis. Decoupling simply means
that national leaders lose control over tactical-level
military interaction.

There are seven potential causes of decoupled inter-
actions: communications and information flow problems,
impairment of political-level decisionmaking, a fast-paced
tactical environment, ambiguous or ambivalent orders,
tactically inappropriate orders, inappropriate guidance in
mechanisms of indirect control, and deliberate unauthorized
actions by military commanders. To establish that tactical-
level interactions became decoupled requires two findings:
first, that at least one of the causes listed above was
present, and, second, that operational decisions made by
tactical-level commanders diverged from the political-
military objectives of poiitical-level leaders.

The second question is, when stratified interactions
become decoupled, what factors inhibit escalation dynamics
from occurring at the tactical level and being transmitted
upward to the strategic and political levels of interac-
tion? This question addresses the third corollary to the
theory of stratified interaction, that in a crisis escala-
tion dynamics can be stratified--arising at the tactical

level of interaction while national leaders are still
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attempting to resolve the crisis peacefully. The focus will
be on identifying escalation-inhibiting features and the
conditions that can cause the escalation-inhibiting factors
to break down.

The third question is did actions taken with naval
forces send inadvertent political signals to adversaries or
allies, and did inadvertent military incidents occur that
affected efforts to manage the crisis? This question
addresses two of the crisis management problems that can
arise when military forces are employed in a crisis:
misperceptions and inadvertent military incidents.

The fourth question is did any of the three tensions
between political and military considerations arise during
the response to the attack on a U.S. ship? Three tensions
between political and military considerations can arise in
crises: tension between political considerations and the
needs of diplomatic bargaining, on the one hand, and mili-
tary considerations and the needs of military operations, on
the other; tension between the need for direct top-level
control of military operations, and the need for tactical
flexibility and instantaneous decisionmaking at the scene of
the crisis; and tension between performance of crisis
missions and maintaining readiness tc perform wartime
missions. All three tensions arise from the operational
requirements of crisis management, the essence of which is

placing political restrictions on military operations.
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The 1964 Tonkin Gulf Incident

USS Maddox, commissioned June 2, 1944, was 376 feet in
length, displaced about 3200 tons, and had a top speed of
around 31 knots. Armament consisted of three 5-inch/38
calibre twin mounts controlled by a MK 37 director, two 3-
inch/50 calibre twin mounts controlled by a MK 56 director,
two MK 32 ASW torpedo tube mounts, and two fixed Hedgehog
ASW launchers. The crew consisted of 11 officers and about
322 men, including a detachment of specialists manning an
electronic intelligence collection van mounted on deck.
Although an old ship, Maddox was a good choice for intelli-
gence collection duties off the coast of a potentially hos-
tile nation due to its weapons, speed and maneuverability.

The North Vietnamese-backed Viet Cong guerilla war
against the South Vietnamese Government and the Communist
insurgencies in Cambodia and Laos dominated the
international situation in Southeast Asia in August 1964.
The political and military situation in the Republic of
Vietnam (RVN) had been deteriorating for years due to
chronically unstable and ineffective governments. Seeking
to exploit the deterioration in the South, the Democratic
Republic of Vietnam (DRV) in December 1963 ordered the Viet
Cong to take the offensive and in 1964 sharply increased the

infiltration of regular army troops into South Vietnam.1

1George McT. Kahin and John W. Lewis, The United
States in Vietnam, Revised Edition (New York: Dell, 1969),
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The U.S. Government viewed the deteriorating situation
in South Vietnam with grave concern. The Cold War had not
yet been thawed by detente and the Communist insurgencies in
Indochina were viewed by the Johnson Administration as a
crucial battle in a global struggle between East and West.
Military and economic aid to South Vietnam increased
significantly during the first half of 1964 as the U.S.
sought to shore up the faltering Saigon regime.2

A program of covert South Vietnamese military
operations against North Vietnam, known as Operation Plan
(OPLAN) 34A, was approved in January 1964 in an attempt to
coerce the North Vietnamese into halting support for the
insurgency in the South. As part of OPLAN 34A the U.S. Navy
provided South Vietnam with eight fast patrol boats (PTFs)
and other small craft, and trained their crews and naval
commandoes for raids on North Vietnam. The first successful

attacks were conducted in May 1964.3

pp. 153-4; Bruce Palmer, Jr., The 25-Year War: America's
Military Role in Vietnam (New York: Simon and Schuster,
1984), pp. 23, 37; George McT. Kahin, Intervention: How
America Became Involved in Vietnam (Garden City, NY: Anchor
Press/Doubleday, 1987), pp. 207-11; Guenter Lewy, America in
Vietnam (New York: Oxford University Press, 1978), pp. 25-
31; Stanley Karnow, Vietnam: A History (New York: Viking
Press, 1983), pp. 63-4.

2Anthony Austin, The President'.: War (New York:
Lippincott, 1972), pp. 35-6, 43-5, 227-33; Palmer, pp. 33-5;
Kahin, pp. 208-12; Karnow, pp. 323-6.

3Edward J. Marolda and Oscar P. Fitzgerald, The United
States Navy and the Vietnam Conflict, Volume II: From
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The possibility of the U.S. striking directly at North
Vietnam had been raised as early as 1961, but it was not
until early 1964 that retaliatory bombing of the North
received serious consideration. Contingency plans were
drawn up and target lists prepared by June 1964. The
desirability of a Congressional resolution authorizing the
President to take military action in Indochina was also
recognized and a proposed resolution was drafted in May
1964. Thus, by the summer of 1964 the United States had
completed military and political planning for some types of
direct U.S. military action against North Vietnam.4

In April 1962 the U.S. Navy had initiated a series of
patrols by destroyers in international waters off the coasts
of China, the Soviet Union and North Korea. Although the

primary mission of these patrols, code named "Desoto," was

Military Assistance to Combat, 1959-1965 (Washington, DC:
U.S. Government Printing Office, 1986), pp. 334-8; U.S.
Congress, Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, The Gulf of
Tonkin, The 1964 Incidents, Hearings, 90th Congress, Second
Session (Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Cffice,
1968), pp. 13-14, 20-21 (Cited hereafter as Tonkin Gulf
Hearings):; Lyndon Baines Johnson, The Vantage Point (New
York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1971), p. 113; Admiral Roy
L. Johnson, "Reminiscences of Admiral Roy L. Johnscn, U.S.
Navy (Retired)," (Annapolis, MD: U.S. Naval Institute, Oral
History Program, April 1982), pp. 235-36. Also see John
Galloway, The Gulf of Tonkin Resolution (Rutherford, NJ:
Farleigh Dickinson University Press, 1970), pp. 37-42;
Joseph C. Goulden, Truth Is the First Casualty (Chicago:
Rand McNally, 1969), p. 95; Karnow, pp. 364-7.

4Johnson, Vantage Point, p. 119; Palmer, pp. 33-5;
Kahin, pp. 217-9; Lewy, pp. 21, 29-31; Karnow, pp. 344-5,
358-62; Austin, pp. 233-8.
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intelligence collection, establishing a U.S. naval presence
near the target countries and asserting freedom of the seas
in international waters off their coasts were recognized by
senior Navy officers and civilian officials as being
political advantages of the patrols.5

The first Desoto patrol off the coast of North Vietnam
was conducted in December 1962. DRV Navy vessels shadowed
subsequent patrols, but did not interfere with them. There
were no joint operations involving RVN OPLAN 34A forces and
U.S. Navy Desoto destroyers. Although the value of intel-
ligence collected by the Desoto patrols to the South
Vietnamese operations was recognized, coordination between
the two programs sought to prevent Desoto patrols from inter-
fering with OPLAN 34A missions. In 1964 minimum distances
of the Desoto patrols from North Vietnam were eight miles
from the mainland and four miles from islands, reflecting
the assumption that only a three mile territorial limit was
claimed by North Vietnam.6

Maddox was assigned the July-August 1964 Desoto patrol
in the Tonkin Gulf. Special communications channels and
reporting procedures were in effect to link the ship to key

commands, and USS Ticonderoga (CVA-14) was tasked to

5Admiral Johnson, "Reminiscences,"” p. 235; Eugene G.
Windchy, Tonkin Gulf (Garden City, NY: Doubleday, 1971), pp.
54-70; Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 393-4; Austin, pp. 240-1.

6Tonkin Gulf Hearings, pp. 12, 25-27; Marolda and
Fitzgerald, pp. 394-405; Austin, 231-3; Galloway, p. 50.
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provide air cover. Maddox arrived off the coast of North
Vietnam the afternoon of July 31 and the next afternoon was
operating in the vicinity of two islands attacked thirty-six
hours earlier by RVN Navy boats on an OPLAN 34A mission.
Early in the morning of August 2 DRV Navy headquarte;s
ordered preparations for battle that night. Maddox, warned
of the danger of attack, cleared the area by moving out into
the Gulf, but was ordered to resume the patrol and had done
so by 10:45 A.M.’

At 3:00 P.M. on August 2 Maddox detected three DRV P-4
class torpedo (PT) boats on radar closing at high speed.
Maddox, which was about twenty-eight miles off the coast,
increased speed to twenty-five knots and set a course to the
south-east to move away from the coast. At 3:30 P.M. Maddox
set general quarters, reported the approaching contacts, and
requested air support. Four F-8 Crusaders and the destroyer
USS Turner Joy (DD 951) were immediately dispatched to
assist Maddox. The first shots of the engagement were fired
by Maddox, invoking the principle of anticipatory self-
defense against forces showing hostile intent. Maddox fired
an initial three shots at 4:05 P.M. as a warning and to get

the range to the PT boats, and opened fire on them three

7Admiral U.S. Grant Sharp, "Reminiscences of Admiral
U.S. Grant Sharp, U.S. Navy (Retired)," Volume I (Annapolis,
MD: U.S. Naval Institute, Oral History Program, March 1976),
pPp. 214-17; Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 405-14. Also see
Karnow, pp. 366-68; Windchy, pp. 113-30.
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minutes later at a range of 9,000 yards. The DRV PT boats
fired four torpedoes at Maddox, all of which missed. Maddox
fired 283 rounds from its 5-inch and 3-inch guns, scoring .
hits on at least two of the boats and killing the commander
of one of them.8

About twenty minutes after Maddox opened fire, the
torpedo boats broke off the attack. Maddox briefly
attempted to pursue but could not close the range. At 4:28
P.M. the F-8s from Ticonderoga attacked the DRV boats,
scoring hits one one of them. Commander Seventh Fleet
ordered a halt to the action after the air attack. One DRV
torpedo boat was sunk, a second heavily damaged and the
third slightly damaged. Maddox was struck by one machine
gun bullet that caused minor damage and no casualties. One
F-8 was struck by gunfire but landed safely in Danang.9

The U.S. Government reaction to the incident was
restrained. Although intelligence assessments concluded
that the attack on Maddox reflected growing North Vietnamese
sensitivity to incursions and readiness to take aggressive
action when threatened, U.S. leaders concluded that the
attack may have been an unauthorized action by a local
commander. President Johnson told aides to play down the

incident. Johnson used the Soviet-American "hot line" to

Ibid.

Ibid.
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pass a message to Premier Khrushchev expressing hope that
North Vietnam would not make further attacks on U.S. vessels
in international waters. A diplomatic protest was also
passed to North Vietnam warning that "grave consequences"
would result from further attacks on U.S. forces. The
President ruled out reprisals against North Vietnam, but in
a public statement warned that U.S. Navy ships and aircraft
would "attack any force that attacks them.“10

The Navy chain of command in the Pacific--Commander
Seventh Fleet (COMSEVENTHFLT), Commander in chief U.S.
Pacific Fleet (CINCPACFLT), and Commander in Chief Pacific
(CINCPAC)--régarded the North Vietnamese attack on Maddox as
a direct challenge to the United States, and believed that
the Desoto patrol should be resumed immediately. Vice
Admiral Roy L. Johnson, COMSEVENTHFLT, immediately ordered
Maddox to "Reverse course, get on station, and remain on

station."11

Admiral U.S.G. Sharp, CINCPAC, stated his view
at the time clearly in his oral history: "My chief reaction
was that we would, at the very least, continue the patrol.

The thing we couldn't do was pull the patrol out of the Gulf

and not go back in, because that would indicate to the

Communists that they had been able to back us down, and we

1oJohnson, Vantage Point, p. 113; Marolda and
Fitzgerald, pp. 419-22; Galloway, pp. 52-53; Goulden, pp.
134-37; Karnow, pp. 368-69; Austin, pp. 22-29.

11

Admiral Johnson, "Reminiscences,” p. 184.
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12 Admiral Thomas H. Moorer,

couldn't have that happen.”
CINCPACFLT, provides insight on Admiral Sharp's view, noting
that there had been an earlier incident off the coast of the
Soviet Union: "Once, a destroyer off Petropavlovsk had run
when he was threatened. This infuriated Admiral Sharp. He

13 Admiral Sharp approved

didn't want that to happen again."
a recommendation from Admiral Moorer to resume the patrol,
and an order was sent to COMSEVENTHFLT for Maddox to do so--
an action that Vice Admiral Johnson had already taken.14
President Johnson quickly ordered the Desoto patrol
resumed by Maddox and Turner Joy to show American
determination to exercise the right of freedom of the seas.
The manner in which the decision was made in Washington to
continue the patrol illustrates the mood among top civilian
officials at the time. According to Floyd D. Kennedy, Jr.,
the Navy duty officer at the Defense Intelligence Agency, a
Lieutenant Commander Winston Cornelius, was called upon to
brief JCS Chairman General Earle G. Wheeler, Acting
Secretary of Defense Cyrus R. Vance, Secretary of State Dean

Rusk, and President Johnson even before he was able to

notify the CNO's duty officer of the incident:

12Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 218.

13Admiral Thomas H. Moorer, interview by author,
February 9, 1988.

14Admiral Johnson, "Reminiscences," p. 184; Admiral
Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 221-26. Also see Windchy, pp.
173-75; Goulden, p. 137. ’
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Before briefing Johnson, Cornzelius, on his own
initiative, prepared a message ordering the Maddox
back into the Gulf of Tonkin to reassert the doctrine
of freedom of the seas. When Johnson asked for his
recommendation, Cornelius showed him the message,
which Johnson immediately approved. After leaving the
White House, Cornelius finally was able to talk with
the Navy's duty captain, and informed him of the
president's decision. The message was sent to the
Commander in Chief of the Pacific Fleet, who ordered
the Maddox, igcompanied by the Turner Joy, to return
to the Gulf.

This fateful decision was thus made with little deliberation
and no input from the CNO. The President's action did not
raise any opposition because the Navy chain of command
agreed with the decision and had already ordered Maddox to
resume the patrol. The minimum distance from the North
Vietnamese mainland was increased to twelve miles and at
night the ships were to move out into the Gulf for safety.
The two destroyers were told that DRV forces should be
"treated as belligerents from first detection" and were
ordered to destroy any vessels that attacked them.16
Maddox and Turner Joy resumed the Tonkin Gulf Desoto
patrol the morning of August 3. The night of August 3-4 the
RVN Navy conducted two OPLAN 34A missions, attacking DRV

shore defenses. Late in the afternoon of August 4, DRV Navy

headquarters ordered two Swatow—-class sub chasers to prepare

15Floyd D. Kennedy, Jr., "David Lamar McDona*4d," in
Robert W. Love, Jr., ed., The Chiefs of Naval Operations
(Annapolis, MD: Naval Institute Press, 1980), pp. 347-48.

16Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences,"” pp. 221-26; Johnson,
. Vantage Point, pp. 113-14; Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp.
419-22; Goulden, pp. 122-60; Windchy, pp. 178-210.




872
for military operations that night, prompting the two
destroyers move out into the Gulf that evening. Maddox and

Turner Joy were over sixty miles from the coast of North

Vietnam that night when they gained high-speed radar
contacts at short range, locked on with fire control radars,
and opened fire. For the next four hours the two ships
engaged at least five possible contacts at close range while
evading several torpedoes detected on sonar. Numerous radar
and visual indications of hits on patrol boats were
reported. Sixteen U.S. Navy aircraft participated in the
engagement, attempting to locate and attack contacts
reported by the destroyers.17
Doubts soon arose over what exactly happened in the
Tonkin Gulf the night of August 4. It had been a dark and
overcast night, with unusual radar propagation conditions
that easily could have generated numerous false contacts.
Only two pilots reported sighting possible contacts, and
their reports were uncertain. The two destroyers 4id not
hold the same contacts at the same time on radar and several

other inconsistencies in the engagement were also noted.18

17Goulden, pp. 122-60; Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 422-
36; Karnow, 369-70; Windchy, 178-210; Galloway pp. 53-66.

18Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 229; James B.
Stockdale and Sybil Stockdale, In Love and War (New York:
Harper and Row, 1984), pp. 3-36. Also see Associated Press
dispatch, "Tonkin Gulf," January 24, 1967, reprinted in
Galloway, pp. 490-96; "The 'Phantom Battle' that Led to
War,"” U.S. News and World Report, July 23, 1984, pp. 56-67;
Windchy, p. 208; Galloway. pp. 57-63.




873

At 1:27 A.M., about an hour after the incident, the on-scene
commander, Captain John J. Herrick, sent a message stating
his uncertainty over exactly what had happened:

Review of action makes many reported contacts and

torpedoes fired appear doubtful. Freak weather

effects on radar and overeager sonarmen may have

accounted for many reports. No actual visual

sightings by Maddox. Suggest cnglete evaluation

before any further action taken.
About half an hour later Captain Herrick sent a second
message summarizing the immediately available evidence of an
attack, but warned that the "entire action leaves many
doubts except for apparent ambush at beginning."20 The
chain of command was thus warned of the ambiguous tactical
picture and that further investigation was warranted.

As soon as the incident was over, Admiral Sharp
recommended to JCS that "authority be granted for immediate

20

punitive air strikes against North Vietnam." This was

19Commander Task Group 72.1 message, CTG 72.1 0417272

AUG 64, August 4, 1964 (Tonkin Gulf Incident files,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC). Reproduced or quoted in Tonkin Gulf Hearings, p. 54;
Marolda and Fitzgerald, p. 440; Goulden, pp. 151-52;
Galloway, p. 62; Windchy., p. 210.

20Commander Task Group 72.1 message, CTG 72.1 0417542
AUG 64, August 4, 1964 (Tonkin Gulf Incident files,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC). Based on my professional judgement (twelve years
experience in destroyers, a month at sea in Maddox in 1974,
and operational experience in the Tonkin Gulf), this is the
best assessment of the incident. There appear to have been
two North Vietnamese patrol boats in the vicinity of Maddox
and Turner Joy at the start of the incident, but they did
not pursue the U.S. ships after they opened fire. For the
next four hours the two destroyers engaged false contacts.
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shortly after noon, Washington time. Although President
Johnson and his advisors were predisposed to retaliate, they
wisely insisted on confirmation that there had been a North
Vietnamese attack. Vice Admiral Blouin, then Director of
the Far East Region in the Office of the Assistant Secretary
of Defense for International Security Affairs (OASD/ISA),
has described the pressure for confirmation:

[The] Big question was whether there had been an
attack. White House put tremendous pressure on Sec
Def, later on OASD/ISA (thus me), on CNO, on CINCPAC.
Later, Adm Sharp met in Hawaii~-communications were
difficult--with Adm Moorer, CINCPACFLT, trying to get
answers from Tonkin [Gulf]l]. President LBJ wanted a
decision so he could announce it on prime time TV
news. anut 2315 all agreed there had been an
attack.

Admiral Sharp has described the White House pressure for
confirmation from his perspective as CINCPAC:

Well, I was on the phone both with General
Wheeler and with Secretary McNamara. McNamara was
trying to confirm in his own mind that an attack
occurred. Of course, that's exactly what we were
trying to do also. My staff was working to try and
correlate all the reports that would come in and
CINCPACFLT staff was doing the same thing. Admiral
Moorer, CINCPACFLT, and I decided that there was
enough information available to indicate that an
attack had occurred. I told Secretary McNamara that,
but we also asked the Maddox to confirm absolutely
that the ships were attacked and told them to get word
to us as quickly as possible. We got a report from

21Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 229. Also see Marolda
and Fitzgerald, p. 438.

22Vice Admiral Francis J. Blouin, letter to author,
February 29, 1988. Also see Tonkin Gulf Hearings, pp. 11,
58-59; Johnson, Vantage Point, pp. 114-15; Marolda and
Fitzgerald, pp. 436-44; Windchy, pp. 213-18; Galloway, pp.
63-65; Goulden, pp. 147-57.
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the ships which neither absolutely confirmed or denied
that they'd been under attack, but the weight of the
evidence still was that an attack had occurred, so I
told Mr. McNamara that. We also had some radio inter-
cept intelligence which tended to confirm the attack.
So we had various conversations back and forth with
Admiral Moorer and I in Honolulu and General Wheeler
in Washington, Secretary McNamara in Washington, and
finally we received an order to attack the next day,
attack North Vietnamese patrol craft bases. In the
meantime we were still receiving amplifying messages
from the Maddox, Turner Joy. and Captain Herrick.
Generally speaking, they seemed to still indicate that
the attack occurred. Turner Joy said that crew
members saw torpedoes and that a target burned when
hit, and her men saw black smoke. So while we were
getting the planes ready aboard the Ticonderoga and
the Constellation, we were still goiag back and forth
about the attack in the Tonkin Gulf.

Vice Admiral Johnson, COMSEVENTHFLT, also provides a vivid
description of the pressure to immediately confirm that
there had been a North Vietnamese attack, and, like Admiral
Sharp, suggests that the decision to retaliate was made
before the on-scene commanders had completed their
assessment of the incident:

Then began to arrive all this flood of inquiries from
Tom Moorer, Chick Clary [CINCPACFLT Chief of sStaff],
Oley Sharp, and McNamara, "Confirm, confirm.” You
have to validate the fact that you were actually under
attack because this is the thing that will decide
whether a retaliatory attack is ordered. So, of
course, I told Maddox, "You've got to report immediate-
ly what the hell happened."” well, unfortunately, on
the Maddox they didn't have any automatic [encryption]
equipment, they had to do it hand-encrypted, and it
took hours and hours. . . .

And all the time the guys [CINCPACFLT and
CINCPAC] were driving me nuts. Every hour they were
calling, "What happened? What actually happer.ed?" I
gave them what information I could. I said: "Now
that's all I have, and I can't tell you whether in my

23Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 229-30.




876
opinion an attack occurred tonight or not. All I can
tell you is that one did occur last night [sic].
that's all I can tell you that's certain and as soon
as I get other information, I'll tell you."”

Apparently Moorer and Sharp decided on their own'
that there had been an attack and that's what they
told McNamara, and that's when gsesident Johnson
ordered the retaliatory attack.

The statements by Vice Admiral Blouin, Admiral Sharp, and
Vice Admiral Johnson reveal intense pressure from the
President and the Secretary of Defense for the Navy chain of
command to make an instant assessment as to whether or not
an attack had occurred. Furthermore, their comments suggest
that the decision to retaliate against North Vietnam was
based on a hurried and tentative evaluation of incomplete
and ambiguous information. Not even the on-scene commander
was certain what actually had happened, but tentative
indications that there may have been an attack were viewed
as sufficient cause for ordering retaliation.

As early as 3:10 P.M., Eastern Daylight Time--well
before the Navy chain of ¢ommand had reached a firm con-
clusion about whether or not there had been an attack on the
destroyers—--President Johnson gave McNamara tentative
authorization to conduct retaliatory air strikes against
North Vietnam. At 5:19 P.M., about five hours after the
incident ended, President Johnson approved plans for air

strikes against DRV naval vessels in or near five North

Vietnamese ports, and against a fuel depot ashore. At about

24Admiral Johnson, "Reminiscences,” p. 239.
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6:00 P.M. the President gave final authorization for the air
strike based on Admiral Sharp's assessment that there had
been an attack, and at 6:07 P.M. McNamara issued the order
for the strikes. At 6:45 P.M. the President briefed
Congressional leaders on the incident and his intent to

25 At 11:36 P.M. President Johnson announced on

retaliate.
television and radio that there had been an attack on U.S.
vessels and that "Air action is now in execution against
gunboats and certain supporting facilities in North Viet-Nam

26 At the

which have been used in these hostile operations.”
time the President made this announcement, U.S. ships and
planes had been searching the Tonkin Gulf for debris from
the previous night's engagement for two hours without
finding anything (No physical evidence would ever be found).
The first wave of Navy planes attacked at 1:30 A.M,
(Washington time), nearly two hours after the President's
speech. They destroyed seven DRV vessels, heavily damaged
ten, and slightly damaged sixteen others--almost all of the
major vessels in the DRV Navy at the time. The fuel depot

was estimated to be 90 percent destroyed. Out of the sixty-

seven Navy aircraft that participated in the strikes, two

25Tonkin Gulf Hearings, pp. 58-59, 63; Johnson,
Vantage Point, pp. 114-15; Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp.
437-46; Goulden, pp. 147-57; Windchy, pp. 213-20.

26Public Papers of the Presidents of the United
States: Lyndon B. Johnson, 1963-1964, Volume II (Washington,
DC: U.S. Government printing Office, 1965), p. 927.
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were lost and another two damaged. One pilot was killed and
another captured by the North Vietnamese. Maddox and Turner
Joy resumed the Desoto patrol off North Vietnam from August
5 to August 8, with no further incidents.27

The most important U.S. response to the incident was
Congressional passage of the Tonkin Gulf Resolution on
August 7. This resolution, based on the draft resolution
prepared in May, stated that the security of Southeast Asia
was a vital U.S. interest and au....rized the President "to
take all necessary measures to repel any armed attack
against the forces of the United States and to prevent
further aggression."” The stage was thus set for the 1965
escalation of the U.S. role in the Vietnam War. North
Vietnam and the Viet Cong were not cowed by the U.S.
resolution or the retaliatory air strikes and conducted
further attacks on Americans in South Vietnam.28

Two final points need to be made concerning the second
incident, involving Maddox and Turner Joy the night of
August 4. First, a decision by the President to delay the

decision on whether or not to retaliate against North

27Admiral Johnson, "Reminiscences," pp. 239-40;
Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 229-32; Marolda and
Fitzgerald, pp. 444-49. Also see Galloway, pp. 67-70;
Goulden, pp. 147-57; Karnow, pp. 371-77; Kahin, pp. 224-5;
Austin, pp. 29-30, 38-48.

28Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 451-52; Galloway, pp.
70-98; Palmer, pp. 35-36; Karnow, pp. 374-6; Austin, pp.
53-105; Lewy., pp. 33-36; Goulden, pp. 23-78.
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Vietnam while the Navy investigated incident probably would
not have resulted in a conclusion that there had not been an
attack and a decision that retaliation was not warranted.
Captain Alex A. Kerr, assigned by Vice Admiral Johnson to
investigate the incident, concluded on August 6 that tbere
had indeed been a North Vietnamese attack on Maddox and
Turner Joz.29 Even if the President had delayed the
retaliation decision, this investigation probably would have
convinced him to proceed with air strikes against North
Vietnam.

The second point is that there was a similar incident

in the Tonkin Gulf a month after the August 4 incident. USS

Morton (DD 948) and USS Richard S. Edwards (DD 950)

commenced a Desoto patrol off the coast of North Vietnam on
September 13, 1964, remaining at least twenty miles from the
coast. At 7:29 P.M. on September 18 the two destroyers
detected two radar contacts closing them at high speed, set
general quarters, and requested air support. At 8:16 P.M.
they fired warning shots and at 8:22 P.M. opened fire on the
contacts. Over the next two hours the two destroyers
engaged at least four radar contacts, firing 299 shells

while they maneuvered to avoid torpedoes. The JCS decided

29Captain Alex A. Kerr, "The Reminiscences of Captain
Alex A. Kerr, U.S. Navy (Retired)," (Annapolis, MD: U.S.
Naval Institute, Oral History Program, 1984), ppo. 459-60.
Also see Tonkin Gulf Hearings, pp. 15-19, 63-64; Marolda and
Fitzgerald, pp. 441-43.
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not to retaliate for this alleged attack due to lack of
intelligence confirmation of North Vietnamese involvement.

A Navy investigation later concluded that a North Vietnamese
patrol boat probably was in the vicinity of the ships at the
beginning of the incident, but there were no attacks on the
destroyers. The radar contacts they engaged and the tor-
pedoes they detected on sonar were evaluated as false.30
The September 18 incident has two implications.
First, it suggests that essentially the same thing may have
happened in the August 4 incident--North Vietnamese patrol
craft were detected at the beginning of the incident, but
there were no attacks on the U.S. destroyers and the targets
they engaged were all false. Second, in contrast to the
August 4 incident, the chain of command reacted to the Sep-
tember 18 incident with restraint and skepticism. On August
4 the chain of command from the President to CINCPACFLT was
predisposed to believe that there had been a North
Vietnamese attack and paid little heed to the on-scene
commander's doubts. On September 18 the JCS initially
recommended retaliatory air strikes, but reversed itself due
to lack of evidence that there had been an attack on the
destroyers. The chain of command may well have learned a
lesson in dealing with ambiguous circumstances from the

August 4 incident, but there is no direct evidence of this.

30
60-61.

Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 453-62; Galloway., pp.
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Findings

This section will review the 1964 Tonkin Gulf Incident
to answer the four research questions. The first qQuestion
is did interactions at the tactical and political levels
become decoupled during or after the attack on the U.S. Navy
ship? At least two of the potential cauvcses of decoupled
interactions were present during the August 2 and 4
incidents: communications and information flow problems, and
a fast-paced tactical environment. Although the technical
capacity to do so may have existed, the Defense Department
and Navy communication systems were not configured to enable
Washington to sbeak directly to ships at sea in the Far East
(this would become a routine operational capability over the
next few years). Officials in Washington spent hours
bombarding Navy commanders in the Pacific with demands for
more information on the second incident before they felt
they had sufficient information on which to base the
decision to retaliate. The President and the Secretary of
Defense were thus unable to control U.S. Navy operations in
the Tonkin Gulf while the incidents were in progress.

Although conditions for decoupling were present, the
operational decisions made by tactical-level commanders did
not diverge from the political-military objectives of
political-level leaders. Captain Herrick acted with caution
to avoid encounters with North Vietnamese forces while

conducting his surveillance mission, and Vice Admiral
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Johnson ordered the engagements on August 2 and 4 halted as
soon as it appeared the U.S. ships were out of danger.
Military commanders and political leaders were in agreement
that North Vietnamese attacks on U.S. ships warranted
retaliatory air strikes, and that the Desoto patrol should
be resumed after the incidents in order to assert freedom of
the seas. Interestingly, the on-scene commander, Captain
Herrick, had the greatest doubt that there had been a North
Vietnamese attack on August 4 and cautioned against a hasty
reaction. Thus, although national leaders temporarily lost
control over events in the Tonkin Gulf during the incidents,
this did not result in uncontrollable escalation of the
confrontations.

The pattern in the two incidents is one of momentary
decoupling followed by immediate disengagement. On-scene
commanders, acting on their own authority under guidance
contained in the rules of engagement, used limited force in
response to apparent imminent attacks. They were not
required to request--and did not seek--permission from
higher authority to use force in self-defense. Once the
immediate threat had been countered and the destroyers were
out of danger, the on~-scene commanders halted the engage-
ments--again on their own authority and without guidance
from higher in the chain of command.

The second question is, when stratified interactions

become decoupled, what factors inhibit escalation dynam;cs
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from occurring at the tactical level and being transmitted
upward to the strategic and political levels of interaction?
Three escalation-inhibiting factors appear to have been
important in the Tonkin Gulf incidents. The first might be
called military prudence: on-scene commanders did not want
to fight under tactically unfavorable circumstances. A
single torpedo could seriously damage or even sink a destroy-
er, multiple PT boats are a difficult threat for a single
destroyer to counter (as in the August 2 incident), and
darkness makes countering PT boats even more difficult (as
in the August 4 incident). Air support arrived after the PT
boats were driven off by Maddox in the first incident, and
was ineffective due to darkness and low cloud cover in the
second incident. It may well be the case that when U.S.
forces are the victim of an unanticipated attack, tactical
military considerations lead military commandérs toward the
same general course of action that political considerations
lead national leaders toward. In the Tonkin Gulf incidents,
military considerations tended to make tactical-level
commanders more cautious than political-level leaders.

The second escalation~inhibiting factor was compliance
by on-scene commanders with the guidance contained in
mechanisms of indirect control. Under the peacetime rules

of engagement in effect in 1964, Maddox, Turner Joy, and the

aircraft supporting them were authorized to use force in

self-defense and in anticipatory self-defense when attack
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appeared to be imminent. Hot pursuit of the attacking force
in international waters was authorized and was used on
August 2 when Navy planes attacked the PT boats after they
had disengaged. On the other hand, retaliation against
targets in North Vietnam was not authorized unless

32 These provisions

specifically approved by the President.
allowed force to be used without further permission from
higher authority, but also resulted in the engagements
halting quickly rather than escalating.

The third escalation-inhibiting factor was the empha-
sis that the President and Secretary of Defense McNamara
placed on confirming that there actually had been a North
Vietnamese attack the night of August 4. They did not
accept initial reports from the Tonkin Gulf at face value;
they insisted on knowing the basis for the conclusion that
there had been an attack on the destroyers. As former
Assistant Secretary of Defense for Public Affairs Phil G.
Goulding points out, there is inherent skepticism toward
initial reports: "A cardinal rule in an establishment as
large as the Department of Defense is to assume that first
reports are always wrong, no matter what their security

classification, no matter to whom they are addressed."33

32See Marolda and Fitzgerald, pp. 422, 459.

33Phil G. Goulding, Confirm or Deny: Informing the
People on National Security (New York: Harper and Row,
1970), p. 103.
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Double-checking the accuracy of initial reports is important
for avoiding unwarranted escalation of a confrontation--
particularly when there may not have been a confrontation at
all.34

The August 4 incident in the Tonkin Gulf suggests
three conditions that can cause the escalation-inhibiting
factors to break down. The first condition is long-term
frustration and animosity toward the other side in a crisis
or incident. U.S. leaders had for years been growing
increasingly belligerent toward North Vietnam due to its
support for the Viet Cong, and had been preparing contin-
gency plans for direct military action against the North.
This created an atmosphere in which an apparent North
Vietnamese attack on U.S. forces would be likely to provoke
a strong U.S. response. The second condition is the
immediate prior occurrence of a confirmed provocation by the
other side, particularly when the U.S. response to the prior
incident was retrained and the other side was warned against
further incidents. The U.S. reacted with notable restraint
to the confirmed August 2 North Vietnamese attack on Maddox,

merely warning against further attacks. But the August 4

34Verifying the accuracy of initial reports can also
have negative consequences: tying up communications channels
with requests for further information and detailed descrip-
tions of past events, slowing the flow of current reports
and orders, and diverting the attention on military comman-
ders from the tactical situation to handling inquiries from
Washington. For example, see Marolda and Fitzgerald, p.
457.
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incident provoked U.S. retaliation against the North even
though the circumstances of the incident were not clear.

The third condition is for all levels in the military
chain of command, from the President to the on-scene
commander, to held similar views toward the adversary and
toward the need for immediate retaliation. A strong unity
of views can suppress the skepticism that normally greets
ambiguous initial reports of a military incident, or lead to
hasty assessment of the incident in the rush to launch
retaliatory attacks. This appears to have occurred in the
U.S. decision to retaliate after the August 4 incident--
McNamara sought confirmation that there had been an attack,
but the President decided to retaliate before a complete
assessment of the evidence had been made.

The third gquestion is did actions taken with naval
forces send inadvertent political signals to adversaries or
allies, and did inadvertent military incidents occur that
affected efforts to manage the crisis? The U.S. responses
to the incidents did not send any serious inadvertent
political signals or result in any serious inadvertent
military incidents. However, the Desoto patrols apparently
were misperceived by North Vietnam. Some U.S. intelligence
analysts and military officers, including Captain Herrick,
suspected that the North Vietnamese misperceived the Desoto
patrol destroyers as participating in or directly supporting

OPLAN 34A attacks on North Vietnam. AltlLough McNamara would
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later adamantly insist that there were no grounds for the
North Vietnamese to have confused the Desoto and OPLAN 34A
operations, such a misperception provides a plausible
exXxplanation for the August 2 North Vietnamese attack on
Maddox.35

The fourth question is did any of the three tensions
between political and military considerations arise during
the U.S. response to the August 2 and 4 incidents? None of
the three tensions was serious because the U.S. responses
were limited and all levels of the chain of command held
generally similar views toward the need to retaliate. The
only aspect of the incidents that generated tension was the
demand for confirmation that there had been a North
Vietnamese attack in the second incident. McNamara's
efforts to confirm that there had been an attack somewhat
annoyed Admirals Sharp and Moorer, both of whom had
immediately recommended retaliation. Tension generated by
the demand for confirmation is an example of the tension
that can arise between political considerations and military
considerations: Confirmation was necessary so that retalia-
tion could be justified politically. But confirmation
required time to assess the evidence, which could delay the
retaliatory strikes--losing the advantage of surprise and

giving the adversary more time to ready his defenses.

3SSee Marolda and Fitzgerald, op. 420-22.
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The 1967 Attack on the Liberty

USS Liberty was launched in 1945, mothballed in 1958,
began extensive conversion for its new duties in 1963, and
recommissioned in late 1964. Liberty's mission was collec-
tion of electronic and communications intelligence, though
for important reasons the Navy cloaked this mission under
the cover of electromagnetic propagation research. The ship
was 455 feet in length and had a displacement of about
10,000 tons. At the time of the attack the crew consisted
of sixteen officers, 285 enlisted men, and three civilian
technicians. Armament was four .50-caliber machine guns--
leaving the ship defenseless against any attack with weapons
heavier than small arms. Liberty's maximum speed was
eighteen knots. Although a superb platform for peacetime
intelligence collection, Liberty was extremely vulnerable
when operating in close proximity to hostilities.

Liberty was ordered to the Eastern Mediterranean as

Arab-Israeli tensions reached the crisis point in late
May.36 The ship was to patrol just outside territorial
waters (twelve miles) off the coast of the Sinai Peninsula,
monitoring the progress of Israeli-Egyptian fighting as well

as conducting general surveillance of the region. Specific

forces were not designated to defend Liberty because the

36See Chapter VII for a description of the background

to the 1967 war, U.S. policy during the crisis, and Sixth
Fleet operations during the crisis.




889
U.S. was officially neutral in the conflict and the ship was
operating in international waters. Just before Liberty
commenced its patrol, at least five messages were sent
increasing the ship's standoff range from the coasts of the
belligerents--apparently in response to Arab claims that the
U.S. Navy was aiding Israel, and warnings from Egypt and
Israel that the seas off their coasts were war zones. Due
to misrouting of the messages to communications stations
that were not handling traffic to Liberty, the ship did not

37 Rear Admiral J.C. Wylie,

receive these crucial messages.
Deputy Commander in Chief U.S. Naval Forces Europe in 1967,
has stated that "This whole prelude to the attack on Liberty
was the most appalling communications snafu [failure] that

38 Commander Sixth Fleet gained

the U.S. Navy ever had."
operational control of Liberty shortly before the ship

commenced its mission, but dia not nave ships or aircraft
alerted to provide support for Liberty in the event of an

attack on the ship.39

37James M. Ennes, Jr., Assault on the Liberty (New
York: Random House, 1979; Ivy Books Edition, 1987), pp. 51-
4, 65; Goulding, pp. 130-2. On the communications problems,
see U.S. Congress, House Committee on Armed services, Review
of Department of Defense Worldwide Communications, Phase I,
Hearings, 92nd Congress, First Session (Washington, DC:
Government Printing Office, 1971), pp. 6-17; "Order Didn't
Get to USS Liberty," New York Times, June 9, 1967, p. 1;
Ennes, pp. 291-300.

38

Rear Admiral J.C. Wylie, letter to author, March 28,
1988.

391pid.
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Israeli aircraft spotted Liberty as soon as it arrived
in its patrol area the morning of 8 June, identified Liberty
as a U.S. Navy ship, and repeatedly flew by the ship
throughout the morning. At 2:00 P.M. two Israeli Mirage jet
fighters attacked Liberty with rockets and cannon fire,
followed by Mystere jet fighters attacking with rockets,
napalm, and cannon fire. At 2:35 P.M. three Israeli torpedo
boats attacked, launching at least five torpedoes, one of
which struck Liberty in its intelligence space. The Israeli
boats also raked the ship with machine guns, firing at
topside personnel and life rafts in the water before
breaking off the attack at 3:15 P.M. Liberty was severely
damaged, thirty-four men were killed and 171 were wounded.
As the torpedo boats retired, two Israeli assault
helicopters arrived, but did not attack (U.S. sources claim
they were carrying troops, Israeli sources claim they were
sent to assist and evacuate wounded). An hour later the
torpedo boats returned to offer assistance, which was
refused by Liberty. The ship was able to clear the area
under its own power and rendezvoused with U.S. Navy ships

the next day.40

4OEnnes, pp. 70-124; Goulding, pp. 93-113; "Israelis,
in Error, Attack U.S. Navy Ship," New York Times, June 9,
1967, p. 1; "U.S. Investigating Attack on Vessel," New York
Times, June 10, 1967, p. 15; Richard K. Smith, "The
Violation of the Liberty," U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings
104 (June 1978): 64-8. For the Israeli version of the
attack, see Israeli Defense Forces, "Preliminary Inquiry,"”
Decision of Examining Judge Sgan Alux Y. Yerulshalmi,
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Liberty was in communication with the Sixth Fleet and
communications stations ashore via high frequency radio-
teletype and high frequency single sideband voice radio (the
CINCUSNAVEUR "High Frequency Command Net," commonly referred
to as "HICOM"). Except during pericds when her radios were
out of commission due to Israeli attacks, Liberty was able
to report that she was under attack directly to the Sixth
Fleet's carriers. Liberty apparently was unable to communi-
cate with the Sixth Fleet during the first half hour of the
attack (2:00 P.M. to about 2:30 P.M.) due to power outages
and damage to radio antennas and transmitters. Ennes has
claimed that the Israelis jammed Liberty's radios, but this
cannot be substantiated and could weil have been electro-
magnetic interference rather than deliberate jamming.41

USS Saratoga (CVA 60), steaming southwest of Crete,
first received a voice report from Liberty at about 2:30
P.M., stating "I am under attack. My posit [position] 31-

23N, 33-25E. I have been hit. Request immed [immediate]

Preliminary Inquiry File 1/67, July 21, 1967; Captain Yaakov
Nitzan, Israeli Navy, "Comment and Discussion," U.S. Naval
Institute Proceedings 104 (November 1978): 111-12; Hirsh
Goodman and Zeev Schiff, "The Attack on the Liberty," The
Atlantic Monthly, September 1984, pp. 78-84.

41Ennes, pp. 89-92, 118-19. There were no reports
from Sixth Fleet units of communications jamming during the
attack on Liberty. What Liberty's radiomen detected was
probably Israeli electronic countermeasures (ECM) intended
to jam air search and fire control radars, which would have
been normal if the Israeli pilots thought they were
attacking an armed warship.
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42 Saratoga requested authentication of this

assistance."
report {(Prudent and required, but much to the annoyance of
Liberty)., then relayed it to Commander Sixth Fleet
(COMSIXTHFLT) and Commander in Chief U.S. Naval Forces
Burope (CINCUSNAVEUR). About five minutes later Saratoga
received and immediately relayed a second voice report from
Liberty, stating "Three unidentified gunboats approaching,
vessels now . . . nd3 Liberty did not finish the transmis-
sion, probably due to the Israeli attack. At about 2:43
P.M., in the midst of the Israeli torpedo boat attack,
Saratoga received and relayed a third voice report from

44

Liberty, stating "Under attack and hit badly." At 2:53

P.M. Saratoga received and relayed a fourth voice report

from Liberty, stating "Hit by torpedo starboard side.

45

Listing badly. Need assistance immediately." These are

42yss saratoga (CVA 60) message, USS SARATOGA 081235
JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC). Saratoga was relaying over radioteletype a report
received over HF/SSB voice radio. Saratoga probably pre-
ceded the radioteletype message with a voice radio report to
CTF 60 (the Carrier Strike Force commander) or COMSIXTHFLT.

43USS Saratoga message, USS SARATOGA 081237Z JUN 67,
June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file, Opera-
tional Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington, DC).

44Uss Saratoga message, USS SARATOGA 081245Z JUN 67,
June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file, Opera-
tional Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington, DC).

45USS Saratoga message, USS SARATOGA 081254Z JUN 67,
June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file, Opera-
tional Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington, DC).
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the reports on which COMSIXTHFLT and the chain of command up
to the President based their initial decisions on how to
respond.” An important point is that none of these reports
give the identity of the attackers. COMSIXTHFLT did not
know the identity of the attackers until after he had
ordered initial actions in support of Liberty.

Vice Admiral Martin, COMSIXTHFLT, acting on his own
authority, responded to Liberty's reports that she was under
attack by immediately ordering Saratoga and USS America (CVA
66) to launch aircraft to defend Liberty against further

46

attacks. This order apparently was first given over voice

radio at about 2:40 P.M., then followed with a message order
at 2:50 P.M.:
America launch four armed A-4's to proceed to 31-23N
33-25E to defend USS Liberty who is now under attack
by gunboats. Provide fighter cover and tankers.
Relieve on station. Saratoga launch fou£7armed A-1's
ASAP [as soon as possible] same mission.

Commander Task Force 40 (CTF 60), the Carrier Strike Force,

46Rear Admiral Wylie, letter to author, March 28,
1988. There was no question that Vice Admiral Martin had
authority to use force to defend Liberty. Admiral Horacio
Rivero, Vice Chief of Naval Operations in 1967, has stated,
in reference to the Liberty incident, that "No commander
needs permission to defend himself, his forces, or other
U.S. forces under attack when he can assist. Any commander
who asks pernrission to do so, instead of acting first,
should be relieved.” Admiral Horacio Rivero, Jr., letter to
author, March 10, 1988.

47Commander Sixth Fleet message, COMSIXTHFLT 0812502
JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Declassified 1979. Liberty incident
file, Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center,
Washington, DC).
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later specified that America was to launch four armed F-4s
as fighter cover for the attack aircraft. Because the
carriers did not have planes on alert to support Liberty,
the A-4s and A~-1ls had to be fueled and armed and their
pilots briefed, which would take about an hour. The
estimated launch times were 3:45 P.M. for America's A-4s and
4:00 P.M. for Saratoga's A-ls. The first planes were
estimated to arrive over Liberty at 5:15 P.M. Vice Admiral
Martin also cordered Task Force 60 to close Liberty's

position, and ordered the destroyers USS George F. Davis (DD

937) and USS Massey (DD 778) to rendezvous with Liberty at

best speed.48 COMSIXTHFLT told Liberty over voice radio

48Commander Sixth Fleet message, COMSIXTHFLT 081320Z
JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC). The planes launched at 3:45 P.M. and 4:00 P.M. were
the first launched specifically to defend Liberty. Ennes
claims that prior to this America launched nuclear-armed
alert aircraft to defend Liberty, but that they were
recalled when higher authorities learned of it. See Ennes,
pp. 89-90. This is undoubtedly false. America was
conducting routine flight operations for training at the
time Liberty was attacked, so the earlier launches described
by Ennes were probably training missions. It is likely,
however, that the carriers did launch their alert aircraft,
but not to defend Liberty. It would have been routine for
the carriers to have armed fighters on alert for air defense
in the event of a surprise air attack. Additionally, it
would have been routine in 1967 for the carriers to have
nuclear-armed strike aircraft on alert for general war
contingencies. Launching these alert fighters and strike
aircraft would have been a normal response to an attack on a
U.S. Navy ship: the fighters to defend the carriers (which
were far more valuable than Liberty) and the strike aircraft
to circle in a safe holding area (ensuring availability for
wartime tasking). But none of these planes would have been
sent to defend Liberty.
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that help was on the way and sent Liberty a message stating
"Your flash traffic received. Sending aircraft to cover
you. Surface units on the way. Keep SITREPs ([situation
reports] coming."49

The actions that Vice Admiral Martin did not take were
as important as those he did take. He did not order attacks
on Soviet forces in the Mediterranean or retaliation against
Egyptian forces or airfields. The actions he ordered were
strictly limited to the defense of Liberty. The rules of
engagement he issued (described below) were carefully
crafted to avoid further incidents. The restraint and
prudence shown by Vice Admiral Martin made a substantial
contribution to preventing the Liberty incident from
escalating to a superpower confrontation.

At 3:15 P.M. COMSIXTHFLT made an initial voice report
to CINCUSNAVEUR and Commander in Chief U.S. Forcés Europe
(USCINCEUR) stating that Liberty was under attack and that
he was taking action to defend her. At 3:30 P.M.
COMSIXTHFLT sent a message situation report (SITREP)
describing in greater detail the actions he had ordered and
informing USCINCEUR that he had declared the forces

50

attacking Liberty hostile. This illustrates the exercise

49 commander Sixth Fleet message, COMSIXTHFLT 0813052
JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC): Ennes, pp. 89-90.

50 - OMSIXTHFLT 081320Z JUN 67.
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of delegated authority within the U.S. command system: the
on-scene commander initiates action, then immediately in-
forms his superiors of the actions he ordered. COMSIXTHFLT
informed USCINCEUR of his actions before the planes were
launched, allowing USCINCEUR to exercise control by negation
should it have been necessary. None of Vice Admiral
Martin's orders were countermanded by higher authorities.

Vice Admiral martin used his authority to declare a
threatening force hostile in response to reports from
Liberty that she was under attack. After ordering aircraft
launched to defend Liberty, COMSIXTHFLT at 3:39 P.M. sent
the following rules of engagement to the carriers:

1. IAW [In accordance with] CINCUSNAVEUR INST

(Instruction] P03120.5B forces attacking Liberty are

declared hostile.

2. You are authorized to use force including

destruction as necessary to control the situation. Do
not use more force than required. Do not pursue any
unit toward land for reprisal purposes. Purpose of

counterattack is to protect Liberty only.

3. Brief all pilots [on the] contents [of] this msg
{messagel.

4. In addition brief pilots that Egyptian territorial
limit (is] only 12 miles and Liberty [is] right on
edge. Do not fly between Liberty and shoreline except
as required to carry out provisions [of] para
[paragraph] 2 above. Brief fighter cover that any
attacks on attack aircraft, Liberty, or they themg

selves is hostile act and para two above applies. 1

51Commander Sixth Fleet message, COMSIXTHFLT 0813392
" JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Declassified 1979. Liberty incident
file, Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center,
Washington, DC)
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In a separate message COMSIXTHFLT emphasized "Ensure pilots

22 Vice Admiral martin

do not repeat do not £ly over land."”
thus took precautions to avoid incidents involving the
aircraft sent to defend Liberty.

Saratoga and America launched their attack aircraft
between 3:45 P.M. and 4:00 P.M. At 4:14 P.M. the U.S.
Defense Attache Office (DAO) in Tel Aviv sent a message to
COMSIXTHFLT and the chain of command reporting that Israel
had informed the U.S. Naval Attache of an accidental attack
on a U.S. ship off the Sinai. This was the first indication
received as to the identity of the attackers. Shortly
thereafter, at 4:22 P.M., Liberty reported that she had
identified the attackers as Israeli. In response to these
reports and a report from Liberty that the attacks had
ended, COMSIXTHFLT at abut 4:30 P.M. ordered the attack
aircraft recalled. COMSIXTHFLT reported to CINCUSNAVEUR and
USCINCEUR at 4:39 P.M. that he had recalled the aircraft
sent to defend Libertx.53 Thus, by about 4:30 P.M. the
immediate crisis was over and there was little likelihood of
further armed clashes involwving U.S. forces.

Guidance from Washington lagged far behind the pace of

events in the eastern Mediterranean. It was not until 4:16

52Commander Sixth Fleet message, COMSIXTHFLT 0813362
JUN 67, June 8, 1967 (Unclassified. Liberty incident file,
Operational Archives, Naval Historical Center, Washington,
DC)

538nnes, pPp. 89-92, 118-19; Goulding, pp. 97-98.
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P.M. that JCS sent a message authorizing use of force to
defend Liberty, ~nd not until 4:46 P.M. that authorizaticn
form the Secretary of Defense to use force was received and
passed on by USCINCEUR. Both of these messages apparently
were sent before Washington learned that Israel was respon-
sible for the attack. Neither of the messages had any
impact on actions taken by the Sixth Fleet. The JCS message
would have been received by Vice Admiral martin about the
same time he received the DAO Tel Aviv message reporting
Israeli responsibility for the attack. Secretary of Defense
authorization to use force would have been received by Vice
Admiral martin about fifteen minutes after he ordered recall

54 At 5:29 P.M.,

of the planes sent to defend Liberty.
almost an hour after Vice Admiral Martin had recalled his
planes, JCS sent a message rescinding authorization to use

55 Top-level civilian and military

force to defend Liberty.
officials in Washington thus had no direct role in
controlling tactical decisions in the Mediterranean after
Liberty was attacked. Vice Admiral Martin acted entirely on
his own authority, basing his decisions on CINCUSNAVEUR

standing peacetime rules of engagement.

54Under other tactical circumstances late arrival of
such messages could seriously complicate c¢risis management
efforts, prompting new fighting after initial disengagement.

55Vice Admiral martin may have received verbal orders
to recall his planes before the JCS message rescinding
authorization to use force was sent, but the author could
find no evidence of this.
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COMSIXTHFLT directed the destroyers Davis and Massey
tv .ontinue at best speed to randezvcus with Liberty, and
provided them with air cover as they steamed eastward
through the night. Task Force 60 also steamed eastward to
rendezvous with Liberty. The destroyers rendezvoused with
Liberty early on June 9, and later that morning helicopters
from America began evacuating Liberty's wounded.56
In some respects tensions were greater in Washington
than in the Mediterranean during the attack on Liberty.
Secretary of Defense McNamara initially thought that Soviet
forces had attacked Liberty:
In the case of the Liberty in the Mediterranean in
June as an example, I thought the Liberty had been
attacked by Soviet forces. Thank goodness, our
carrier commanders did not launch immediately against
the Soviet forces who were operating in the
Mediterranean at the time. I then thought it had been
attacked by Egyptian forces. Who else could have done
it? Thank goodness, we did not launch against the
Egyptianss7 We took time to find out it was the
Israelis. ~

In contrast to McNamara, the Navy chain of command was

confident that the Soviets had not conducted the attack on

56Bnnes, pp. 141, 144-46; Goulding, pp. 97-98.

57”Secretary Rusk and Secretary of Defense McNamara
Discuss Viet-Nam and Korea on 'Meet the Press'," Department
of State Bulletin 58 (February 26, 1968): 271. Also see
Goulding, p. 97; Authorization for Military Procurement,
Research and Development, Fiscal Year 1969, and Reserve
Strength, Hearings, 90th Congress, Second Session
(Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1968), p.
47 (Cited hereafter as Authorization for Military Procure-
ment, 1969); Jonathan T. Howe, Multicrises: Sea Power and
Global Politics in the Missile Age (Cambridge, MA: MIT
Press, 1971), p. 102.
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Liberty. COMSIXTHFLT and CTF 60 took no actions against
Soviet naval forces in the Mediterranean. Vice Admiral
Donald D. Engen, Commanding Officer of America in 1967,
states that the Sixth Fleet knew the Soviets could not have
conducted the attack because there were no Soviet aircraft
or naval vessels in the vicianity of Liberty. Rear Admiral
Wylie states that there was no concern at CINCUSNAVEUR that
the Soviets had conducted the attack, and Admiral Horacio
Rivero states that there was no concern on the CNO's staff
that the Soviets had conducted the attack.58 It was thus
the more accurate picture that on-scene commanders had of
the local tactical situation and their compliance with
standing rules of engagement that prevented a clash with
Soviet or Egyptian forces. In retrospect, given McNamara's
inaccurate suspicions as to who had attacked Liberty, it is
perhaps fortunate that the Secretary of Defense was not able
to directly control Sixth Fleet actions during the incident.

Officials in Washington ;ade an important contribution
to preventing the Liberty incident from escalating to a

superpower confrontation by notifying the Soviet Union of

the attack and the U.S. response to it. In his memoirs,

58Vice Admiral Donald D. Engen, letter to author,
March 21, 1988; Rear Admiral Wylie, letter to author, March
28, 1988; Admiral Rivero, letter to author, March 10, 1988.
Also see Howe, p. 103; Anthony R. Wells, "The June 1967 Arab-
Israeli War," in Bradford Dismukes and James McConnell,
eds., Soviet Naval Diplomacy (New York: Pergamon Press,
1979), p. 167.
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President Johnson describes his use of the "hot line" to
inform the Soviets or che attack and that U.S. warplanes had
been sent to the scene:
There was a possibility that the incident might lead
to even greater misfortune, and it was precisely to
avoid further confusion and tragedy that I sent a
message to Chairman Kosygin on the hot line. I told
him exactly what had happened and advised him that
carrier aircraft were on their way to the scene to
investigate. I wanted him to know, I said, that
investigation was the sole purpose of these flights,
and I hoped he would inform the proper parties.
Kosygin replied that our message had been received and
the informg&ion had been relayed immediately to the
Egyptians.”
President Johnson somewhat distorted the mission of the
planes that had been sent to assist Liberty--they were fully
armed and had been ordered to defend her, rather than just
investigate. Portraying their mission as investigation was
probably intended to allay Soviet and Egyptian concerns.
The President's use of the hot line was important because
Sixth Fleet actions in support of Liberty--flying attack
'planes and fighters into a war zone, close to Egyptian
territory--could have been misperceived as imminent U.S.
intervention in the war.
Israel officially claimed that it had "erroneously"
attacked Liberty believing that it was an Egyptian vessel,
and apologized for the attack. The U.S. Government did not

officially accept the Israeli explanation that the attack

59Johnson, Vantage Point, p. 301. Also see Hugh
Sidey, "Over the Hot Line--the Middle East," Life, June 16,
1967, p. 24B.
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was a mistake, but, by accepting the Israeli apology and not
Jdemanding a full accounting for the incident, tacitly
accepted the accident explanation. After an initial burst
of outrage, public opinion if the United States soon forgot
about the attack--reflecting U.S. Government handling of the
incident. In June 1968 Israel paid $3.3 million to the
families of those killed, in April 1969 paid $3.5 million to
the men wounded in the attack, and in December 1980 agreed

to pay $6 million for damage to the ship.60

Findings

This section will review the 1967 attack on the
Liberty to answer the four research questions. The first
question is did interactions at the tactical and political
levels become decoupled during or after the attack on the
U.S. Navy ship? At least two of the potential causes of
decoupled interactions were present during the incident:
communications and information flow problems, and a fast-
paced tactical environment. Although these factors
prevented political-level leaders from exercising direct
control over Sixth Fleet actions, decoupling did not occur.
The actions ordered by Vice Admiral Martin were restrained
and anticipated the desires of top-level officials in

Washington. COMSIXTHFLT carefully spelled out rules of

6oEnnes, pp. 154-58, 171-72, 184-91; Goulding pp. 123-
24, 134-35; sSmith, pp. 69-70.
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engagement intended to avoid unnecessary incidents while
defending Liberty. Thus, although interactions were
stratified during the incident--evolving independently at
the political and tactical levels—--they were not decoupled.
The pattern was one of parallel stratified interactions:
tactical~level military actions that support the crisis
management objectives of national leaders even though not
under the direct control of those leaders.

The second question is, when stratified interactions
become decoupled, what factors inhibit escalation dynamics
from occurring at the tactical level and being transmitted
upward to the strategic and political levels of interac-
tion? Although tactical-level interaction did not become
decoupled in the Liberty incident, the case does shed light
on three escalation-inhibiting factors. First, by fully
complying with with the standing rules of engagement and
limiting his actions to those necessary to defend Liberty,
the on-scene commander contributed to avoiding an
unnecessary clash with Soviet or Egyptian forces. Second,
use of the hot line apparently helped prevent the Soviets
and Egyptians from misperceiving the intent of actions taken
by the on-scene commander (or apparently would have, if the
planes had not been recalled before reaching Liberty).
Third, rapid Israeli notification of the United States that
it had inadvertently attacked a U.S. naval vessel cleared up

confusion in Washington and resulted in Sixth Fleet planes
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being recalled before they entered the war zone off the
coast of Sinai. The last two factors emphasize the
importance of communications among the parties to a crisis
for avoiding misperception and escalation.

The third question is did actions taken with naval
forces send inadvertent political signals to adversaries or
allies, and did inadvertent military incidents occur that
affected efforts to manage the crisis? Neither problem
arose during the Liberty incident. Vice Admiral Martin
carefully limited the Sixth Fleet response to the attack and
the President used the hot line to prevent misperceptions
from arising. The Israeli attack on Liberty was itself an
inadvertent military incident, momentarily complicating U.S.
crisis management efforts in the Middle East War, but no
further incidents occurred during the Sixth Fleet's response
to the attack.

The fourth question is did any of the three tensions
between political and military considerations arise during
the response to the attack on Liberty? None of the three
tensions was serious during the Liberty incident. There was
1 tle tension between political and military considerations
because the incident was over before significant diplomatic
activity--other than hot line messages--could begin. The
limitations that Vice Admiral Martin placed on his forces
supported U.S. political objectives in the crisis. There

was little tension between the need for top-level control
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and the need for tactical-leve. flexibility and initiative
because the incident evolved too rapidly for officials in
Washington to play a direct role in controlling events. JCS
and the Secretary of Defense could only reaffirm orders
already given by COMSIXTHFLT. There was no tension between
performance of crisis missions and maintaining readiness to
perform wartime missions because the Sixth Fleet response to

the attack was small-scale and of short duration.

The 1968 Seizure of the Pueblo

USS Pueblo was launched in 1944 as FP-344, a light
cargo ship in service with the Army Transportation Corps,
and was mothballed in 1954. The ship was delivered to the
Navy in 1966, renamed Pueblo, underwent extensive conversion
for its new duties, and was commissioned on May 13, 1967.
Pueblo's primary mission, like that of Liberty, was collec-
tion of electronic and communications intelligence, although
it was designated an environmental research ship (AGER) with
the cover of conducting oceanographic and communications
research. The ship was 179 feet in length, had a displace-
ment of 970 tons, and a top speed of thirteen knots. The
crew consisted of six officers, seventy-five enlisted men,
and two civilian oceanographers. Armament was two .50-
calibre machine guns--installed in the wake of the Liberty
incident--which had little value for self-defense. Pueblo

satisfied the requirement for an economical intelligence
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collection platform, but was extremely vulnerable--the worst
possible vessel to be operating near the coast of a country
possessed by a fanatical and violent hostility to the United
States.

In 1968 detente had not yet lessened Soviet-American
Cold War tensions, the United State. was deeply involved in
the Vietnam War, and the protest movement against the war
was rapidly gaining momentum. The international setting on
the RKorean Peninsula was dominated by North Korean hostility
to the governments of South Korea and the United States.
Although an uneasy truce had been in effect on the Peninsula
since the armistice of July 1953, numerous armed clashes had
¢2curred near the demilitarized zone (DMZ) and in South
Korean waters due to North Korean efforts to infiltrate
agents into the South. The number of DMZ incidents had
increased sharply in 1967.

Political and military tensions had risen significant-
ly on the Korean Peninsula in the two weeks before Pueblo
arrived on station as the North Koreans renewed talk of
uniting the Peninsula militarily. North Korea also stepped
up its propaganda claims of South Korean and American
provocations against the North, and warned that military
action would be taken against incursions into its
territorial waters. On January 21, 1968, a team of 31 North
Rorean troops infiltrated the DMZ to assassinate South

Korean President Park Chung Hee, but were stopped just shorp
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of the presidential residence in a bloody confrontation with
South Korean police and troops. This incident further
increased tensions on the Peninsula, bringing North and
South Korea to the brink of a military confrontation.61

Pueblo's mission was authorized through normal
channels. On December 17, 1967, Commander U.S. Naval Forces
Japan (COMNAVFORJAPAN), Pueblo's operational commander,
submitted a mission proposal with a threat assessment that
the mission entailed "minimal risk." Commander Seventh
Fleet (COMSEVENTHFLT), who commanded all U.S. Navy combat
forces in the Western Pacific, did not participate in
evaluating the mission proposal (but was informed of the
mission after it was approved).62 COMNAVFORJAPAN submitted
the Pueblo mission proposal to Commander in Chief U.S.
Pacific Fleet (CINCPACFLT), whose staff reviewed and
endorsed the proposal and accompanying threat assessment.

CINCPACFLT forwarded the proposal to Commander in Chief

Pacific (CINCPAC), whose staff also reviewed and endorsed

1Trevor Armbrister, A Matter of Accountability (New
York: Cooward-McCann, 1970), pp. 27-33, 168-9; Lloyd M.
Bucher, Bucher: My Story (Garden City, New York: Doubleday
and Co., 1970), pp. 392-3; Edward R. Murphy, Jr., Second in
Command (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1971), pp.
117, 378; B.C. Roh, "The Pueblo Incident in Perspective,"”
Asian Survey 9 (April 1969): 272-3. '

62Admiral William F. Bringle, Commander Seventh Fleet
in 1968, letter to author, March 23, 1988; Vice Admiral Joe
P. Moorer, Assistant Chief of Staff for Operations on the
staff of Commander Seventh Fleet in 1968, letter to author,
March 15, 1988.
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it. CINCPAC then forwarded the proposal to the Joint
Reconnaissance Center.63

The Joint Reconnaissance Center (JRC) served JCS as
the central coordination center for peacetime reconnaissance
and surveillance missions. JRC passed the proposal to the
Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) for a final evaluation of
the proposal and threat assessment. DIA concurred with the
assessment of minimal risk and returned the proposal to
JRC. JRC added Pueblo's mission proposal to hundreds of
others in the "Monthly Reconnaissance Schedule, January
1968," which was reviewed by the military services, Central
Intelligence Agency (CIA), National Security Agency (NSA),
and the State Department’'s Bureau of Intelligence and A
Research. After this review, which generated no objections
to the minimal risk assessment, the Monthly Reconnaissance
Schedule was submitted to the Joint Chiefs. On this
occasion the Operations Deputies, acting on behalf of the
Chiefs, actually approved the schedule. The Monthly
Reconnaissance Schedule was then submitted to Deputy
Secretary of Defense Paul H. Nitze, acting on behalf of

Secretary McNamara, and the Senior Interdepartmental Review

63Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 567-68; Admiral
John J. Hyland, Commander in Chief U.S. Pacific Fleet in
1968, letter to author, March 24, 1988; U.S. Congress, House
Committee on Armed Services, Inquiry Into the USS Pueblo and
EC-121 Plane Incidents, 91st Congress, First Session
(Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1969), pp.
1636-4€ (Cited hereafter as Pueblo Inquiry):; Armbrister, pp.
187-95.
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group, which handled routine intelligence matters and other
policy issues on behalf of the National Security Council,
for final approval. On December 29, 1967, Nitze approved
the Monthly Reconnaissance Schedule, including Pueblo's
apparently routine mission.64

The United States had previously conducted
surveillance off the coast of North Korea with specially-
equipped destroyers and the intelligence ship USS Banner
(AGER 1), a vessel similar to Pueblo. Similar surveillance
missions conducted off the coasts of the Soviet Union and
China were often subjected to harassment, but had never been
attacked. North Korea had not reacted to previous surveil-
lanée missions and had a very small navy, so the danger to
Pueblo was assessed as minimal. United States military and
intelligence officials believed that North Korea would not
attack a U.S. vessel in international waters. A mission off
the coast of North Korea was selected for Pueblo's first
operation because it appeared to be a relatively safe way to
train an inexperienced crew for more demanding and dangerous
missions off China and the Soviet Union. Admiral John J.
Hyland, then CINCPACFLT, has aptly described Pueblo's first

mission as a "shakedown" voyage.65

64Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1636~-46; Authorization for Mili-
tary Procurement, 1969, pp. 42-43; Armbrister, pp. 187-95.

65Admira1 Hyland, letter to Author, March 24, 1988.
Also see Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1636-40; Armbrister, pp.
185-90. For background on similar missions prior to Pueblo,
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Because Pueblo's mission had been assessed as minimal
risk, COMNAVFORJAPAN did not request that COMSEVENTHFLT or
Commander Fifth Air Force designate specific naval or air
forces for quick-reaction support of Pueblo in the event of
an attack. Fifth Air Force had been alerted to provide
contingency support for Banner on some previous missions
(Sseventh Fleet had not because almost all of its ships were
committed to the Vietnam War). Additionally, there were no
contingency plans for support of Pueblo in an emergency.66
On the morning of January 23, 1968, Pueblo was 15.5
miles from the nearest land, dead in the water off the North

Rorean port of Wonsan. A North Korean SO-1 patrol craft

challenged Pueblo at about noon, demanding the ship's

see Vice Admiral John L. Chew, Commander U.S. Naval Forces
Japan (1964-1965), "Reminiscences of Vice Admiral John L.
Chew, U.S Navy (Retired)," (Annapolis, MD: U.S. Naval
Institut¢< Oral History Program, February 1979), pp. 381-85;
Vice Admiral Edwin B. Hooper, Commander Service Force
Pacific (Pueblo's administrative commander) in 1968,
"Reminiscences of Vice Admiral Edwin B. Hooper, U.S. Navy
(Retired)," (Annapolis, MD: U.S. Naval Institute, Oral
History Program, 1978), pp. 431-34.

66Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara, quoted in
Authorization for Military Procurement, 1969, p. 53;
"Secretary Rusk and Secretary of Defense McNamara Discuss
Viet-Nam and Korea on 'Meet the Press'," Department of State
Bulletin 58 (February 26, 1968): 271; Vice Admiral Kent L.
Lee, Commanding Officer of USS Enterprise (CVAN 65) in 1968,
interview by author, February 5, 1988; Admiral Bringle.
letter to author, March 23, 1988; Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer,
letter to author, March 15, 1988; Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1621-
22. Also see Rear Admiral Daniel V. Gallery, The Pueblo
Incident (New York: Doubleday, 1970), p. 27; Armbrister, pp.
64-66, 117-22, 185-90, 199-200; Bucher, pp. 107-8, 124-26;
Murphy, pp. 84-85.
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identity and ordering it to "Heave to or I will fire." The
patrol boat was soon joined by three P-4 torpedo boats and
Pueblo was overflown by North Korean Mig jet fighters. One
of the torpedo boats had a boarding party at the ready.
Pueblo started heading for sea, but at 1:27 P.M. was fired
on by the SO-1 and the P-4's. Shortly thereafter Pueblo
halted. 1In response to a signal to "Follow me" from the
SO-1, Pueblo started into Wonsan harbor. After once
attempting to stop, which drew a barrage of fire that caused
the only death in the incident, Pueblo was ordered to halt
and at 2:32 P.M. was boarded and seized by the North
Roreans. At about 4:45 P.M. Pueblo entered Wonsan, and at
8:30 P.M. moored to a pier in the harbor.67

Pueblo was in communications with the U.S. Naval
Communications Station at Kamiseya, Japan over high
frequency encrypted radioteletype at the time of the
attack. Voice communications normally were availablé
directly with Navy commanders (at sea and ashore) and radio
stations in Japan and Hawaii over the high frequency single
sideband command net ("HICOM"). At the time of the attack,
however, Pueblo was unable to use this circuit due to a

frequency shift that was in progress, degrading the net.

67Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1657-61; Authorization for
Military Procurement, 1969, pp. 40-41; Admiral Sharp,
"Reminiscences," pp. 569-71; Bucher, pp. 167-212; Murphy,
pp. 120-52; Goulding, pp. 267-72. Also see Armbrister, pp.
32-60, 69-78; "North Korea Seizes Navy Ship," New York
Times, January 24, 1968, p. 1.
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Prior to being boarded, Pueblo transmitted two standard
operational reports by radioteletype to Kamiseya. These
operational reports, designated "OPREP-3" reports in the
joint operational reporting system, were both sent by Pueblo
in the "PINNACLE" category--reserved for emergencies and
other serious matters of "national level" interest. OPREP-3
PINNACLE reports were automatically sent to every level in a
unit's operational chain of command, including the National
Military Command Center, JCS, and the White House.
Additionally, Pueblo's radiomen sent informal real-time
status reports to Kamiseya over radioteletype until the ship
was boarded. Such informal messages were known as "operator
chatter" and had to be put into official messages by
Kamiseya before commands not listening to Pueblo directly
could receive them.68

Pueblo sent its first OPREP-3 PINNACLE at 12:52 P.M.,
local time in the Sea of Japan (10:52 P.M. on December 22 in
Washington, D.C.). In this mess;ge Pueblo reported the
presence of the North Korean naval vessels and their order
to "Heave to or I will fire." The message was relayed by
Kamiseya and received by the COMNAVFORJAPAN duty officer
twenty~-three minutes after it was sent. No action was taken
on this message by the COMNAVFORJAPAN staff because it

appeared to describe harassment much less severe than Banner

68
64-68.

Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1658-67; Armbrister, pp. 43-47,
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had experienced from the Soviets and Chinese on previous
missions. Because Pueblo had assigned this message a
relatively low transmission priority, it was placed in a
queue behind other messages of higher priority awaiting
transmission to commands outside Japan.69

Pueblo sent its second OPREP-3 PINNACLE at 1:18 P.M.,
local time in the Sea of Japan (11:18 P.M. on December 22 in
Washington, D.C.). 1In this message Pueblo reported that the
North Koreans had ordered the ship to follow them and were
preparing to board Pueblo. Kamiseya immediately relayed
this message to COMNAVFORJAPAN, where the duty officer
received it only four minutes after it was sent by Pucblo.
This was the message that served as a trigger--alerting the
chain of command that there was a genuine emergency in the
Sea of Japan. The COMNAVFORJAPAN staff began notifying
other commands of the emergency. At 1:45 P.M., twenty-seven
minutes after Pueblo sent the second OPREP-3 PINNACLE, Rear
Admiral Frank L. Johnson, Commander U.S. Naval Forces Japan,
was notified in Tokyo by telephone of the emergency. At
1:53 P.M., thirty-five minutes after Pueblo sent the second
OPREP-3 PINNACLE, the duty officer at Fifth Air Force
headquarters was notified via secure telephone of the

emergency.70

691bid.

701piq.
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Kamiseya retransmitted Pueblo's second OPREP-3
PINNACLE to Commander Fifth Air Force, which received it at

2:23 P.M., and to USS Enterprise (CVAN 65), which received

it at 2:38 P.M.--minutes after Pueblo was boarded by the
North Koreans. Additionally, COMNAVFORJAPAN sent several
"CRITIC" messages containing Pueblo's operator chatter
describing the North Korean attack. At the time, CRITIC was
the highest priority of message, reserved for strategic
warning and the alerting of National Command Authority of

attacks on U.S. forces.71

As this chronology shows, the
Navy communications system was able to maintain connectivity
between Pueblo and the radio station at Kamiseya, but
experienced serious delays in relaying time-critical
messages to the commanders that needed them.

Kamiseya took two actions with with Pueblo's second

OPREP-3 PINNACLE. First, Kamiseya immediately retransmitted

71Ibid. Vice Admiral Lee has stated that Enterprise,
then in the East China Sea about 550 nautical miles from
Pueblo, monitored Pueblo’'s operator chatter directly. Vice
Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5, 1988. This is
certainly plausible, and means that he would have received
Pueblo's reports of the attack real-time. Admiral Bringle,
then in the Tonkin Gulf on USS Kitty Hawk (CVA 63), has
stated that his radiomen also monitored Pueblo's operator
chatter, and that he ordered Enterprise into the Sea of
Japan in response to Pueblo's operator chatter. Admiral
Bringle, letter to author, March 24, 1988. This is less
plausible due to the distance. Admiral Bringle was probably
receiving COMNAVFORJAPAN's CRITIC messages relaying the
operator chatter. Admiral Sharp, who was visiting Admiral
Bringle on Kitty Hawk, has stated that shortly after 5:00
P.M. he and Admiral Bringle received the CRITIC messages
forwarding Pueblo's operator chatter. See Admiral Sharp,
"Reminiscences," p. 572.
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it to the commands that would normally receive an OPREP-3
PINNACLE: COMSEVENTHFLT, CINCPACFLT, CINCPAC, and the Nation-
al Military Command Center (NMCC, for JCS watch officers).
For unexplained reasons this message was extremely slow in
reaching some of the commands, particularly CINCPACFLT and
CINCPAC. Second. about eighteen minutes after it was sent
by Pueblo, Kamiseya retransmitted the second OPREP-3
PINNACLE as a CRITIC message to DIA, NSA, JCS and other
commands. This CRITIC message was received by DIA and JCS
at 11:57 P.M. (one hour and thirty-nine minutes after Pueblo
sent it). JCS Chairman General Earle G. Wheeler was
notified of the message at 12:03 A.M., and Secretary of
Defense McNamara was notified about twenty minutes later.
the White House received the CRITIC at 11:43 P.M. (earlier
than JCS), and Situation Room watch officers began notifying
National Security Advisor Walt W. Rostow and other top
officials of the emergency. According to his memoirs, Presi-
dent Johnson was notified of the emergency at 2:24 A.M.72
Meanwhile, Pueblo had been boarded and seized by the North
Koreans at 11:35 P.M. (Washington time), and would enter
Wonsan at 2:45 A.M. the significance of this chronology is
that by the time top-level officials had been notified of
the emergency, it was too late to take action to prevent

seizure of the ship. If timely action was to be taken to

72Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1658-67; Armbrister, pp. 43-47;
Johnson, Vantage Point, p. 533.
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assist Pueblo, military commanders in the Far East would
have to order it on their own authority.

U.S. forces in the Far East did not respond to
Pueblo’'s calls for assistance in time to prevent the ship
from being captured by North Korea. The Fifth Air Force had
seven F-4 fighter-bombers on alert in South Korea, but were
configured for nuclear weapons. Commander Fifth Air Force
directed that they be reconfigured for conventional weapons
to assist Pueblo, but that was a time-consuming process and
Sidewinder air-to-air missiles were the only conventional
oranance immediately available {(racks for conventional bombs
and rockets had to be flown in from Japan). Commander Fifth
Air Force also ordered planes dispatched from Okinawa, where
there were eighteen fighter-bombers. Two F-105s, armed only
with 20 millimeter cannon to save time, were launched at
4:11 P.M., but could not reach Pueblo before dark because
they had to land and refuel in South Korea. There were
sixteen Air Force and eight Marine Corps attack planes at
U.S. bases in Japan-—at most about one hour and twenty
minutes flight time from Wonsan--but for unknown reasons
none were launched.73

The attack carrier Enterprise, escorted by USS Truxton

(DLGN 35), was steaming southwest in the East China Sea

73pueblo Inquiry. pp. 1622, 1668-73; Authorization for
Military Procurement, 1969, p. 46; Armbrister, pp. 61-68,
210-41; "Tie~up of U.S. Jets Laid to Atom KRole,"” New York
Times, January 25, 1968, p. 15; Goulding, p. 270.
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about 550 nautical miler from Pueblo at the time of the

attack. Enterprise carried a total of fifty-nine fighter

and attack aircraft (F-4B, A-4E, and A-6A), thirty-five of
which were operational on January 23. Rear Admiral H.H.

Epes, Commander Task Group 77.5 (the Enterprise task group),

received Pueblo's first OPREP-3 PINNACLE at 2:30 P.M., and
received Pueblo's second OPREP-3 PINNACLE and the initial
CRITIC messages eight minutes 1ater.74 Rear Admiral Epes
decided not to take immediate action in support of Pueblo,
citing five considerations: (a) he had not received any
requests to support Pueblo, (b) Pueblo apparently had
already been boarded énd seized, (c) Pueblo would be in
North Korean territorial waters by the time his planes
arrived, (d) it would be dark by the time his planes
arrived, and (e) his planes would face alerted North Korean
air defenses, including surface-to—-air missile batteries
around Wonsan and superior number of Mig fighters.75
Enterprise probably would not have been able to launch
attack aircraft in time to prevent Pueblo from being seized.
Vice Admiral Lee has stated that "we could have had twenty

76

planes in the air in maybe an hour and a half." Starting

74Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988;
Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5, 1988;
Pueblo Inquiry., pp. 1668-73; Armbrister, pp. 61-68, 210-41.

75Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1671-72; Armbrister, p. 219.
76
1669.

Armbrister, p. 219. Also see Pueblo Inquiry, p.
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the clock at 2:40 P.M., which was about the time rear
Admiral Epes had sufficient information to understand the

seriousness of Pueblo's situation, Enterprise could have had

planes in the air by about 4:10 P.M., and the planes could
have been over Pueblo at about 5:10 P.M. That is almost
three hours after Pueblo was boarded and twenty-five minutes
after it reached the mouth of Wonsan Harbor. This supports
Vice Admiral Lee's position that "We could have sent an air
strike, but it was too late by the time we received messages

77 If COMNAVFORJAPAN had requested

telling us to respond."”
support from Enterprise as soon as Pueblo's first OPREP-2

PINNACLE was received at 1:21 P.M., Enterprise probably

would have been able to place attack aircraft over Pueblo
before the ship entered Wonsan.

At 3:06 P.M. Admiral Bringle ordered Enterprise and

Truxton to proceed to a position in the Sea of Japan off the

78

coast of South Korea at best speed. He also directed,

however, that "No Task Group 77.5 ship or aircraft take any

79

overt action until further informed." Enterprise and

Truxton received and executed this message at 3:50 P.M.,

77Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5,
1988. Also see Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 576.

78Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988;
Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988;
Admiral Sharp. "Reminiscences," pp. 571-72; Pueblo Inquiry,
pPpP. 1669-72; Armbrister, pp. 219-29.

79Pueblo Inquiry, p. 1671. Also see Admiral Sharp,
"Reminiscences," p. 572; Armbrister, p. 229.
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shortly before Pueblo entered Wonsan. A U.S. navy destroyer
was also ordered to the scene, but could not arrive until
the next day, well after Pueblo was tied up in Wonsan.

Thus, no actions were taken that could have prevented the
North Roreans from seizing the Pueblo.80

There were three principle reasons for the lack of an
effective response by U.S. forces in the Far East: First,
there were no contingency plans to support Pueblo in the
event of an attack, and no air or naval forces were
designated to provide such support. Vice Admiral Lee had
described the limitations this creates:

The Navy has forces all over the world. There's
no way we can predict incidents in all the places we
operate. There's no way you can respond unless you
are prepared to. Unless you are on an alert basis, it
is difficult to respond quickly. This applies to
staffs, too: Ifslthey are unprepared, they can't
respond quickly.

U.S. forces were unprepared to provide quick-reaction
support to Pueblo when she was attacked. Neither the Air
force nor the Navy had aircraft on alert to support Pueblo.-
Aircraft that were not ready for a strike mission would have

requived one to two hours for fueling and arming and pilot

briefings before they could even take off. The Navy did not

80Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988;
Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5, 1988;
Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1668-73; Armbrister, pp. 61-68, 210-41,
257-65; Goulding, pp. 269-90.

81
1988.

Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5,
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have any warships in the Sea of Japan covering the Pueblo
mission. The nearest U.S. warships would have required at

least eighteen hours to reach Pueblo.82

According to
Admiral Hyland, then CINCPACFLT, "At the time of the
incident there wasn't anyone poised and ready to take action
of any kind against North Korea. . . . It was all over
before anyone except Pueblo herself could do anything."83
The lack ¢f contingency plans and alert forces thus severely
limited the military options available to U.S. commanders in
the Far East.

The second reason for the lack of an effective
response was that Air Force and navy commanders in the Far
East concluded that they would not be able to provide
adequate forces to support Pueblo prior to the ship entering
Wonsan Harbor, or prior to darkness, when providing air

support would be extremely difficult.84 According to JCS

Chairman General Wheeler:

8211\dmir:=11 Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;

Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988; Admiral
Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 573-74; Vice Admiral Lee,
interview by author, February 5, 1988; Vice Admiral J.P.
Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988; Pueblo Inquiry.
pp. 1621-22, 1668-73. Also see Armbrister, pp. 61-68, 117-
22, 185-90, 199-204.

83

Admiral Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988.

84Admiral Bringle, letter to author, march 23, 1988;
Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 573-74; Pueblo Inquiry,
pp. 1668-73; Authorization for Military Procurement, 1969,
pp. 47-48, 52-53; Johnson, Vantage Point, pp. 534;
Armbrister, pp. 219-20, 230-31.
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factors considered by all levels in the chain of com-
mand when the incident occurred were capabilities of
friendly and enemy forces, time of day, weather, and
probable hostile reaction. When these factors were
assessed against actual times of events associated
with the incident, time of receipt of the information
that the ship was under attack, and force response
time, it was apparent to all levels of command that
the Pueblo could not be retrieved by any action ggior
to the time that the ship entered Wonsan Harbor.

Some observers, notably rear Admiral Daniel V. Gallery and
the Special Subcommittee that investigated the incident for
the House Armed Services Committee, have argued that U.S.
commanders in the Far East were wrong in concluding that
they could not provide support to Pueblo in time to prevent

86 The important point for this

her from being seized.
study, however, is that U.S. commanders perceived-~rightly
or wrongly--that they could not provide effective support to
Pueblo before the ship and crew were in North Korean hands.
The third factor that inhibited an immediate response
was the presence of large numbers of North Korean air force
Mig fighters and the close proximity of North RKorean surface-
to-air missile sites around Wonsan. There is unanimous
agreement among military commanders that North Korea would
have had superior numbers of fighters in the air over
Pueblo: The ship had reported Migs overhead before being

captured, indicating that the North Korean air force had

been alerted to provide air cover. This did not preclude an

8 pueblo Inquiry, p. 1668.

86Gallery, pp. 51-56; Pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1669-73.
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effort to drive off the attackers, but did mean that U.S.
attack aircraft would have to be provided with a strong
fighter escort if they were to be effective. It might also
have been necessary to strike North Korean surface-to-air
missile sites in order to protect the attack aircraft and
their fighter escort. Similarly., any Navy warships sent to
rescue Pueblo would have required substantial air cover.
U.S. military commanders thus believed that once Puebloc had
been seized, any response would have to ke relatively large-
scale and include a strong fighter escort for the strike
force. Their judgement was that the North Koreans would not
be cowed by only a few attack aircraft, which would be
relatively easy to shoot down.87 The perception that a
large-scale response was called for further increased the
time required to mount a response, which in turn reinforced
the view that there was not sufficient time to respond
before Pueblo was tied up in Wonsan.

Rules of engagement and standing orders did not
inhibit U.S. commanders from providing support to Pueblo
prior to the ship entering Wonsan. Admiral Hyland,
CINCPACFLT, Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, COMSEVENTHFLT
Operations Officer, and Vice Admiral Lee, Commanding Officer

of Enterprise, have all stated that the rules of engagement

8—’Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988;
Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5, 1988;
Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," pp. 573-74; Pueblo Inquiry,
p. 1668; Armbrister, pp. 219-20, 230-31.
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permitted Navy units to use force to defend Pueblo.88

Admiral Sharp, then CINCPAC, has confirmed this: "“There was
a standing order in the Pacific Command, as there is every
place else in the Navy, that says that anyone in a position
to help a ship under attack is to do so without any further
orders."89 Admiral Bringle, then COMSEVENTHFLT, has
explained the authority of U.S. Navy commanders:

When an emergency arises which affects the safety of
personnel, ships or aircraft, either civilian or
military, Navy Commanders don't wait for specific
orders from higher authority to tell them to react.
They evaluate the situation quickly and react with the
forces which are available to assist. if at all
possible,gaeanwhile keeping everyone involved fully
informed.

According to JCS Chairman General Wheeler, U.S. commanders
in the Far East had ample authority to assist Pueblo:

At the time of the attack by the North Korean naval
units, the United States had the historic right--
codified internationally by Article 51 of the United
Nations Charter--to take any action in self-defense
proportionate to the attack and necessary to protect
the ship. Whatever military steps the United States
could have taken within these limits from the air or
on the sea to prevent the capture of the USS Pueblo
would have been fully justified. There were no rules
of engagement limgiing going to the aid of Pueblo
during this time.

The statements by Admiral Bringle and General Wheeler are

88Admiral Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;
Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988;
Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5, 1988.

89Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 576.

9OAdmiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988.

91Quoted in Pueblo Inquiry., p. 1668.
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fully consistent with the guidance contained in U.S.
standing peacetime rules of engagement since the early

1950s .22

Additionally, Secretary of Defense McNamara
testified in 1968 that Commander U.S. Naval Forces Japan and
Commander Fifth Air Force had authority to take military
action without having to get permission from CINCPAC.93
While Pueblo remained in international waters, U.S.
military commanders had broad authority to use force to
defend or recover the ship. In 1955 President Eisenhower
had approved a national Security Council staff proposal that
a distinction be drawn between self-defense (including hot
pursuit for self-defense) and reprisals. Military
commanders were authorized to use force in self-defense,
including hot pursuit into the airspace or territorial
waters of other nations under certain circumstances. But
only the President could order reprisals, generally
considered to be any retaliatory attacks against the

94 Under this doctrine, U.S.

territory of another country.
forces were authorized to use force to defend or gain
release of Pueblo so long as it did not entail attacks
against North KRorean territory, which would have been

reprisals requiring Presidential approval.

92See Chapter IV for a detailed discussion of U.S.
peacetime rules of engagement.

93Authorization for Military Procurement, 1969, p. 60.

94See Chapter 1V.
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The peacetime rules of engagement in force in 1968
apparently did not permit hot pursuit into North Korean
territorial waters in order to defend or recover Pueblo.
Rear Admiral Epes stated that he could not take action in
North Korean territorial waters, and General John D. Ryan,
Commander in Chief Pacific Air Forces, directed Commander
Fifth Air Force to keep his planes over international waters

35 Vice Admiral Lee has stated that

while supporting Pueblo.
under the rules of engagement "We could respond to defend a
Navy ship in international waters."96 Hot pursuit into
North Korean territorial waters thus does not appear to have
been authorized under the rules of engagement.

Once Pueblo entered Wonsan harbor, the rules of
engagement placed severe restrictions on the use of force by
U.S. military commanders. An effective rescue mission
probably could not have been carried out without suppressing
North Korean air and coastal defenses, and there would have
been a high risk of weapons directed against North Korean
naval vessels inadvertently impacting ashore. Admiral Sharp
has stated that an attack on Wonsan would have been "an act

97

of retaliation." An attack on Wonsan Harbor thus fell in

the category of reprisals and required approval by the

95Armbrister, pp. 219-20.

96Vice Admiral Lee, interview by author, February 5,
1988.

97Admiral Sharp, "Reminiscences," p. 573.
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President. According to Admiral Hyland, Admiral Bringle,
and Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, Navy commanders had to get
authorization from higher authority before taking military

I8 The Navy report to the

action against North Korea.
Special Subcommittee that investigated the incident states
that "Combat action after Pueblo arrived in the harbor could
be viewed as retaliatory in nature, requiring approval of

9 Evidently, this was precisely the view

higher authority."
held by Navy commanders in the Pacific.

General Wheeler testified that on the morning of
January 23, he received a "hold" order from "higher author-
ity," which could only be the Secretary of Defense and the
President. This order directed that U.S. forces were to
remain beyond eighty nautical miles from the coast of North
Rorea when operating north of the Korean DMZ. General
Wheeler issued this order to CINCPAC by telephone at 10:25
A.M. Washington time (12:25 A.M. the next morning in the Sea
of Japan, four hours after Pueblo tied up in Wonsan), and
reiterated the verbal order with a message that evening.100

This was the first restraint placed on U.S. commanders in

the Far East by officials in Washington, and came well after

98 ,dmiral Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;
Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988; Vice
Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988.

99Pueblo Inquiry, p. 1672.

100Pueblo Inquiry, p. 1668; Armbrister, p. 239;
Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988.
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commanders in the Far East had decided against taking
immediate military action against North Korea.

After reviewing the orders that had been given on
January 23, 1968, the Special Subcommittee concluded that
U.S. military commanders in the Far East had authority to
take military action in support of Pueblo:

Since higher authority in Washington had appar-
ently not established a hold order on our forces until

0025 on the 24th of January, Korea time {(10:25 Washing-

ton time on the 23rd), our operational commanders were

apparently not precluded from exercising their own
judgement in respect to providing some assistance to
the Pueblo. Thus, it would appear that these opera-
tional commanders had both the authority and the
opportunity Ealact if they had been able to do so
immediately.
The two qualifications that must be placed in this assess-
ment are, first, that U.S. forces were not authorized to
engage North Korean forces inside North Korean territorial
waters, and, second, that military actions taken after
Pueblo was inside the North Korean port of Wonsan would have
constituted reprisals, thus requiring approval of the
President. These restrictions essentially halted U.S.
military action in support of Pueblo from 4:45 P.M. onward.

President Johnson and his advisors considered a wide
range of military options, but quickly decided that none of
them were feasible. COMSEVENTHFLT had a contingency plan

£2r rotaliatory air strikes against North Korea (reportedly

code named "Fried Fish"), which was quickly updated for the

101Pueblo Inquiry, p. 1673.
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Pueblo emergency. The President elected not teo carry out
retaliatory air strikes. Navy commanders in the Far East
also prepared a plan to send a destroyer into Wonsan and tow
Pueblo out (which would have entailed large-scale combat
operations to suppress North Korean defenses), but this plan

102 Admiral Thomas H.

was also disapproved by the President.
Moorer, then Chief of Naval Operations, states that the JCS
recommended strong action: "The JCS recommended that the
U.S. deliver an ultimatum to North Korea to return the ship,
and to mass B-52s for an attack. Our recommendation was
turned down. McNamara's excuse was 'We've already got one

103 The President decided against

war, we don't need two'.
presenting an ultimatum to North Korea.

President Johnson's primary concern was for the safe
return of the crew, and he was also reluctant to become
involved in a second conflict while deeply engaged in
Vietnam. The President authorized two military actions:
deployment of some 350 Air Force tactical aircraft to South
Korea and a buildup of naval forces in the Sea of Japan.

?As a political gesture President Johnson ordered twenty-two

Air Force reserve squadrons and six Navy reserve squadrons

called up to active duty. All of these actions were

102Admiral Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;
Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988; Vice
Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988.

103Admiral Thomas H. Moorer, interview by author,
February 9, 1988. Also see Johnson, Vantage Point, p. 535.
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essentially symbolic, as the President had already decided
that the United States would not take military action
against North Korea.104

The U.S. naval buildup in the Sea of Japan lasted from
January 23 to March 22, 1968. At the height of the buildup,
the Navy had over eighteen warships in the Sea of Japan,
including three aircraft carriers, two cruisers, and four-
teen destroyers. This show of force had no apparent effect
on the North Roreans, who kept their air and naval forces
close to shore--well clear of the U.S. Seventh Fleet. The
Soviet Union, on the other hand, reacted to the U.S. naval
presence with vitriolic‘anti-American propaganda and
harassment of the carrier task groups. Initially, five
Soviet ships, including three destroyers, an intelligence
collection ship (AGI), and an naval research ship, trailed
the U.S. carriers. On February 4, Soviet Tu-16 Badger
bombers began intense surveillance of the U.S. carriers and
repeatedly buzzed them at low altitude. The Soviet Badgers,

some carrying clearly visible anti-ship cruise missiles,

104Admira1 Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;
Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March 15, 1988;
Johnson, Vantage Point, pp. 535-36; Authorization for Mili-
tary Procurement, 1969, p. 57; "North Korea Seizes Navy
Ship.," New York Times, January 24, 1968, p. 1; "U.S. Calls
14,787 Air Reservists," New York Times, January 26, 1968, p.
1; "More U.S. Planes Go to Korea," New York Times, January
28, 1968, p. 1. Also see Armbrister, pp. 237-39, 258-67;
Abram Shulsky, "Coercive Diplomacy." in Bradford Dismukes
and James McConnell, eds., Soviet Naval Diplomacy (New York:
Pergamon Press, 1979), pp. 119-23.
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also conducted simulated strikes against the U.S. carriers.
This was the first instance of Soviet missile-armed aircraft
conducting simulated strikes against U.S. warships during a
period of international tension. On February € a Soviet
anti-carrier group, consisting of two Kynda-class cruisers,
(armed with SS-N-3 anti-ship cruise missiles) and four
destroyers, took station in the Sea of Japan just north of
the DMZ off the coast of North Korea-—a clear signal that
the Soviet Union would oppose U.S. military action against
North Korea. On February 17 a Soviet destroyer and the
research ship harassed the U.S. formation by conducting
dangerous maneuvers violating the rules of the road.105
Soviet simulated anti-carrier strikes and harassment
significantly increased tensions in the Sea of Japan.

Interestingly, Soviet harassment of U.S. naval forces
in the Sea of Japan commenced after the United States began
discussion with North Korea in Panmunjon on Pueblo. This

pattern would be seen again during the 1973 Middle East War,

105Vice Admiral J.P. Moorer, letter to author, March
15, 1988; "A Soviet Trawler Trails enterprise,"” New York
Times, January 26, 1968, p. 1; "Carrier Shifting from Korea
Post," New York Times, February 7, 1968, p. 1l; Shulsky, pp.
121-23; Armbrister, pp. 258-67. Admiral Hyland and Admiral
Bringle state that there were no serious incidents between
U.S. and Soviet naval forces in the Sea of Japan during this
period. Admiral Hyland, letter to author, March 24, 1988;
Admiral Bringle, letter to author, March 23, 1988. However,
both COMSEVENTHFLT and CINCPACFLT were preoccupied with the
Vietnam War--the Tet offensive was in progress at the time--
and probably did not pay close attention to operations in
the Sea of Japan.
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when Soviet naval units commenced intense anti-carrier
exercises against the Sixth Fleet in the Mediterranean after
the Israeli-Egyptian ceasefire finally took hold (See
Chapter VI for a further details). In both cases this
pattern probably indicated a certain amount of caution by
the Soviet Union: avoiding naval actions that could involve
the Soviet Union in the conflicts, but, after tensions had
started to ease, taking symbolic actions for political
signaling purposes. It is not clear, however, exactly what
the Soviets were attempting to signal. The most likely
Soviet intentions in 1968 were to deter the United States
from taking military action against North Rorea, to
neutralize U.S. coercive threats during the talks with North
Rorea, and to demonstrate opposition to the U.S. naval
presence close to the Soviet Union in the Sea of Japan.

That in 1968 and 1973 the Soviets did not commence
simulated anti-carrier attacks until after tensions had
started to ease does not mean that such Soviet behavior is
not dangerous from a crisis management perspective.

Tensions at sea typically do not relax as quickly as they do
in the political arena because U.S. naval forces are usually
kept on station well after a crisis subsides, and because
there normally is a lag in informing U.S. naval ¢ommanders
of current political developments and future political
intentions (if they are told at all). 1In 1968 and 1973 the

Soviets initiated simulated strikes against U.S. naval
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forces during the lag period before U.S. forces were
directed to stand down and their commanders informed that
military action was no longer contemplated. A tense and
dangerous situation can thus develop at sea even while U.S.
leaders perceive that the crisis has peaked and the danger
of an armed clash has eased.

Other than the symbolic military actions described
above, the United states limited its response to protests
and negotiations for the release of Pueblo's crew. The crew
was imprisoned near Pyongyang, where for eleven months they
were exploited for anti-American propaganda and subjected to
torture and brutal treatment. On December 23, 1968 the
United States signed a confession that the Pueblo had in-
truded into North Korean waters—-—-a confession it immediately
repudiated verbally-—and the crew of the Pueblo was released
in Panmunjom. North Korea scored a propaganda victory over
the United States and kept the ship and that portion of its
classified equipment and publications that had not been
destroyed.lo6

Political and military tensions on the Korean
Peninsula remained acute throughout 1968 and into 1969.
There were dozens of North Korean provocations and

infiltration attempts along the DMZ, which resulted in seven

‘1°6Ed Brandt, The Last Voyage of the Pueblo (New York:

W.W. Norton and Co., 1969), pp. 227-33; Bucher, pp. 349-59;
Murphy, pp. 307-17; Armbrister, pp. 333-44.
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U.S. soldiers being killed.107 There were also numerous
North Korean provocations at sea. North Korea continued its
harassment of the South Korean fishing fleet, seizing at
least sixteen South Korean fishing boats in 1968. On June
22, 1968, North Korea claimed that it had sunk a U.S. spy
ship in the Yellow sea, but the vessel did not belong to the
United States and probably was a South Korean fishing

boat.lo8

North Korea struck at the United States again on
April 14, 1969, shooting down an unarmed U.S. Navy EC-121
reconnaissance plane over the Sea of Japan, ninety miles

103 North KRorean seizure of the

from the North Rorean coast.
Pueblo thus was not an isolated incident, but rather one of
scores of North Korean provocations and atrocities directed

against South Korea and the United States during the 1968-

1969 period.

107"Korean Reds Kill 4 U.N. Soldiers," New York Times,

April 15, 1968, p. 1; "North Koreans Fire on American Unit,
Killing One Soldier," New York Times, April 22, 1968, p. 15;
"Two U.S. Soldiers Killed in North Korean Buffer Clashes,"
New _York Times, July 23, 1968, p. 14; "G.I. Killed in Clash
with Korean Reds," New York Times, July 31, 1968, p. 3;
"Rising War Peril Is Seen in Korea," New York Times, August
16, 1968, p. 3; "2 U.S. Soldiers Die in Clash with North
Korean Intruders," New York Times, August 20, 1968, p. 13;
"G.I. Killed in Clash in Korea," New York Times, October 7,
1968, p. 4.

108"Naval and Maritime Events, 1 July 1968-31 December
1969," U.S. Naval Institute Proceedings 96 (May 1970): 50,
52, 54; "North Korea Says It Sank 'Spy Ship'," New York
Times, June 23, 1968, p. 1.

109pueblo Inquiry, pp. 1675-81; "23-Ship U.S. Fleet
Off Rorean Coast to Guard Flights," New York Times, April
22, 1969, p. 1.
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Findings

This section will review the 1968 seizure of the
Pueblo tc answer the four research questions. The first
question is did interactions at the tactical and political
levels become decoupled during or after the attack on
Pueblo? One of the potential causes of decoupled interac-
tions was present and played an major role in how the
incident developed: communications and information flow
problems. Emergency messages from Pueblo required over an
hour to reach Washington and U.S. military commanders in the
Pacific. On the other hand, although U.S. military
commanders had authority to take military action in support
of Pueblo, they decided not to do so. President Johnson was
not confronted with having to halt combat operations or
approve them after the fact becarse none were initiated.
U.S. commanders in the Far East had already come to the same
conclusion that the President would reach: that tiiere were
no effective military actions that could be taken to rescue
Pueblo without needlessly endangering the crew. Therefore,
although the President did not have direct control over the
initial response to the North Korean attack on Pueblo, U.S.
forces acted essentially as he would have wanted them to act
under the circumstances. This pattern is one of parallel
stratified interactions: tacti:al level interactions that
are not controlled by national leaders, but which support

the political objectives of those leaders.
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The second question is, when stratified interactions
become decoupled, what factors inhibit escalation from
occurring at the tactical level and being transmitted upward
to the strategic and political level of interaction?
Although decoupling did not occur in the Pueblo incident,
two of the considerations that prevented decoupling can be
viewed as escalation-inhibiting factors: military prudence
and compliance with the guidance contained in mechanisms of
indirect control. U.S. military commanders were reluctant
to mount a response that would have been excessively
vulnerable to North Korean attacks. Loss of U.S. aircraft
sent to defend Pueblo almost certainly would have generated
escalatory pressures, so in this instance military prudence
led to tactical decisions that supported crisis management
objectives. U.S. military commanders complied with the
restrictions imposed on military operations by the standing
peacetime rules of engagement, barring their forces from
attacking North Korean forces inside North Korean
territorial waters and airspace, and not ordering actions
that would have constituted reprisals against North Korea.
The guidance contained in the peacetime rules of engagement
may or may not have been appropriate to the specific
circumstances, but U.S. military commanders were careful to
comply with that guidance.

The third question is did actions taken with naval

forces send inadvertent political signals to adversaries or
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allies, and did inadvertent military incidents occur that
affected efforts to manage the crisis? Neither problem
appears to have been arisen in the Pueblo incident, probably
due to the relatively passive U.S. response to the North
Korean provocation. North Korea succeeded in achieving a

fait accompli, effectively limiting U.S. options to settling

on North Korean terms. the passive U.S. response annoyed
the South Koreans, but this arose from correct perceptions
rather than from misperceptions. It apparently had little
impact on long-term U.S. relations with South Korea.

The fourth question is did any of the three tensions
between political and military considerations arise during
the response to the North Korean seizure of Pueblo? None of
the three tensions was serious during the incident. There
were essentially no tensions between political and military
considerations. All levcls in the chain of command agreed
that effective military action could not be taken before
Pueblo entered Wonsan. There was di;agreement between
military and civilian officials over whether or not
reprisals should be taken against North Korea, and over
whether or not if an effort should be made to recover the
ship by force. But these disagreements primarily revolved
around the military feasibility of the options proposed by
the military, rather than the political implications of the
options (The Johnson Administration perceived both

considerations as weighing against taking military action).
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There was little tension between the need for direct
top—-level control and the need for tactical-level flexi-
bility and initiative. U.S. military commanders in the Far
East had ample authority to take military action without
having to seek permission from higher authorities so long as
Pueblo remained in international waters. The "hold" order
issued to the military came well after commanders in the Far
East had decided against taking immediate military action,
and served only to avoid further incidents with North Korean
forces while Washington weighed reprisal options. If U.S.
commanders had ordered attacks on North Rorean forces in
international waters to prevent Pueblo from being taken into
Wonsan, it is likely that the President would have supported
the action (As he supported Vice Admiral Martin's dispatch
of aircraft to defend Liberty in 1967).

There was some tension between performance of crisis
missions and readiness to perform wartime missions. The
limited time available for taking action meant that the
initial response to the North Korean attack on Pueblo had to
be made with U.S. forces in and around Japan and South
Korea. The aircraft closest to Pueblo--Air Force planes on
alert in South Korea--were configured for delivery of
nuclear weapons (a wartime mission) and c¢ould not be rapidly
reconfigured for conventional ordnance (for crisis
missions). Commander Fifth Air Force did not hesitate to

order these planes reconfigured for conventional ordnance.
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Maintaining readiness for wartime missions had greater
impact on the decision whether or not to retaliate against
North Korea. The heavy commitment of U.S. forces in Vietnam
limited the options available to U.S. military commanders
and made the President and Secretary of Defense reluctant to
take action against North Korea that could result in another

military conflict.

The 1987 Attack on the Stark

USS Stark was launched in 1980 and commissioned in
1982. The ship is 445 feet in length, displaces about 3,700
tons, and has a top speed of over twenty-nine knots. Anti-
aircraft armament consists of Standard SM-1(MR) 25-mile
range missiles fired from a MK 13 launcher, a 76 millimeter
MK 75 gun, and a 20 millimeter MK 16 close-in weapon system
(CIWS) for defense against anti-ship missiles. With these
weapons and the SPS-49 air search radar, naval tactical data
system (NTDS), tactical data link, MK 92 fire control
system, SLQ-32 electronic warfare system, and chaff
launchers, Stark is well-armed for defense against air
threats--particularly anti-ship cruise missiles. The crew
consists of seveﬁteen officers and 168 enlisted men. With
its modern systems for surveillance and self-defense, Stark
was a good choice for patrol duties in the Persian Gulf.

The Iran-Iraq War dominated the international

situation in the Persian Gulf in May 1987. The war erupted
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in September 1980 when Iraq invaded Iran, initially
penetrating deep into Iranian territory. Iran repelled the
Iragqi assault and the war stagnated along the Shatt al-Arab
estuary. Iran and Iraq both frequently attacked oil
facilities--including oil platforms and shipping terminals
in the Persian Gulf--in an effort at crippling each other's
economies.

During the first three years of the war, Iraq
conducted sporadic attacks on shipping in the vicinity of
Iranian ports and oil terminals. 1In retaliation for Iraqi
attacks on oil facilities, Iran was stopping and boarding
tankers entering the Persian Gulf to verify that their
destination was not Irag. The shipping war escalated in May
1984 with the first Iranian attacks on commercial shipping
in the Persian Gulf. Iraq also escalated its attacks on
shipping in 1984, conducting attacks more frequently and
covering more of the Persian Gulf. Iragi attacks were
indiscriminate: Mirage fighters fired Exocet missiles at
whatever contacts they picked up on radar without attempting
to identify their nationality--hitting ships belonging to
Iraq's allies on more than one occasion. Iran and Iraq
further intensified their anti-shipping campaigns in 1986,
conducting twice as many attacks as in 1985. Approximately
355 ships were attacked in the Persian Gulf from September
1980 to May 1987. 1In the nine months prior to the attack on

the Stark Iraq flew over 330 anti-shipping flights and fired
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90 French-made Exocet anti-ship missiles, hitting 40 ships
with them.110

Soon after the Iran-Iraq War erupted in 1980 the
United States expressed concern for the security of shipping
in the Persian Gulf, particularly through the Strait of
Hormuz. Iran was viewed as the primary threat due to its
hostility to the U.S. and to Arab nations siding with Iraqg.
U.S. Navy ships began escorting American-flag merchant ships
in the Persian Gulf after Iran began attacking shipping in
1984. 1In the spring of 1987 the United States, responding
to a request from Kuwait for assistance in countering an
Iranian campaign against Kuwaiti shipping, was making final
plans for reflagging and escorting Kuwaiti tankers.111

Despite their escort duties, the ships of the U.S.

Navy's Middle East Force were primarily serving political

110"As Tension Rises in the Gulf, Role for U.S.
Becomes Issue," New York Times, May 23, 1984, p. 1; "sStark
Unaware It Was Target, Admiral Says."” Los Angeles Times, May
20, 1987, p. 1; "U.S. Policy in Gulf Aimed at Halting Iran,
Official Says," Los Angeles Times, May 22, 1987, p. 1;
Ronald O'Rourke, "The Tanker War," U.S. Naval Institute
Proceedings 114 (May 1988): 30-34.

111“Escalating Iran-Iraq Fighting Prompts U.S. to
Study Its Available Options to Keep Strait of Hormuz Open,"
Wall Street Journal, September 24, 1980, p. 2; Warren
Christopher, "Conflict in Iraq and Iran," Current Policy No.
234, U.S. Department of State, October 7, 1980; "Weinberger
Pledges to Protect Gulf Shipping," Los Angeles Times, March
23, 1987, p. 1; "U.S. Tells Navy To Bolster Force At Persian
Gulf,"” New York Times, April 5, 1987, p. 1; Michael H.
Armacost, "U.S. Policy in the Persian Gulf and KRuwaiti
Reflagging," Current Policy No. 978, U.S. Department of
State, June 16, 1987.
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purposes in the Persian Gulf. Their presence was intended
to show the flag, demonstrating U.S. resolve to keep the sea
lanes open and deterring Iran from attacking American
shipping. Special precautions were in effect to prevent
unwanted incidents. To avoid inadvertently shooting down
any of the many friendly aircraft over the Gulf, the rules
of engagement required Navy ships to r=dio warnings to
approaching planes and carefully assess their actions for
indications of hostile intent before firing. Prior to the
Stark incident, those procedures had appeared sufficient to
avert possible attacks on U.S. Navy ships while avoiding
incidents with civilian aircraft.112

U.S. Navy ships were warned that the primary danger to
them was inadvertent attacks, and were told that they were
tc regard all Iranian and Iraqi aircraft as potentially
hostile. Stark had been briefed on the Persian Gulf rules

of engagement on February 28, 1987, just prior to joining

the Middle East Force. The report of the investigation into

112Rear Admiral Grant Sharp, "Formal Investigation
Into the Circumstances Surrounding the Attack on the USS
Stark (FFG 31) on 17 May 1987," letter serial no. 00/5S-0487,
June 12, 1987 (Sanitized version released in 1988 by the
Department of the Navy), pp. 12-13 (Cited hereafter as
"Sharp Report); U.S. Congress, House of Representatives, Com-
mittee on Armed Services, "Report on the Staff Investigation
into the Iraqi Attack on the USS Stark," 14 June 1987, pp. 4-
6 (hereafter referred to as "Staff Investigation"). Also
see Michael Vlahos, "The Stark Report,"” U.S. Naval Institute
Proceedings 114 (May 1988): 65. For an example of how these
rules were used in the Gulf prior to the Stark incident, see
"U.S. Confirms Naval Incidents in Strait of Hormuz," New
York Times, February 29, 1984, p. A7.
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the Stark incident conducted by Rear Admiral Grant Sharp
states, referring to the February 28 briefing, "The ROE
[rules of engagement] briefer highlighted that the
probability of deliberate attack on U.S. warships was low,
but that indiscriminate attack in the Persian Gulf was a
signiticant danger."113

According to the Sharp Report, the Stark tragedy was
not caused by ambiguous or overly restrictive rules of
engagement:

The Rules of Engagement that were in existence on 17

May 1987 were sufficient to enable Stark to properly

warn the Iraqi aircraft, in a timely manner, of the

presence ¢of a U.S. warship; and, if the warning was
not heeded, the Rules of Engagement were sufficient to
enable Stark to defend herself against hostile intent
and iTEinent danger without absorbing the first

hit.

Stark was authorized to use force in anticipatory self-
defense against any aircraft that demonstrated hostile
intent by flying an apparent anti-ship attack profile and
failing to respond to radio warnings to remain clear.

Iraqi aircraft wera routinely detected on anti-
shipping flights, but usually did not provoke a reaction by
U.S. Navy ships because the Iragis were regarded as non-
hostile and their targets were inside the Iranian Exclusion

Zone--well away from U.S. Navy patrol areas. Occasionally,

however, Iraqi jets had to be warned away and at least one

113Sharp Report, p. 6.

1141pi4., p. 32.
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close call had occurred when a U.S. Navy warship had been
close to the target of an Iraqi missile. Iraqi planes were
a danger because they made no effort to identify their
targets, firing blindly at radar contacts.115 Commander
Middle East Force had warned on May 14 and 16, 1987, that
Iragqi planes were conducting anti-shipping strikes in the
central Persian Gulf (the area in which Stark was
operating), creating an increased danger of indiscriminate
attacks. Stark had received these messages and was thus
fully appraised of the threat.116

On May 17, 1987, Stark was patrolling the central
Persian Gulf about eighty-five miles northeast of Bahrain,
twelve miles outside the Iranian Exclusion Zone. Shortly
after 8:00 P.M. Stark was informed that a U.S. Air Force
AWACS radar plane had detected an Iraqi aircraft two hundred
miles from the ship heading southeast along the coast of
Saudi Arabia. Stark picked up the plane on air search radar
when it was seventy miles away and detected the Mirage's
radar in the search mode. At 9:08 P.M., when the Iraqi

plane was thirteen miles away, Stark broadcast a warning

identifying itself as a U.S. warship and requesting the

115"2nd U.S. Warship Warned Off Iraqi Jets," Los
Angeles Times, 21 May 1987, p. 14; "sStaff Investigation,"
pp. 4-5. The near m.:s occurred in 1986 when an Iraqi
missile struck a ship about six miles from the destroyer USS
John Hancock. See "1985 Iraqi Attack on U.S. Ship Cited,"
New York Times, May 24, 1987, p. 13.

116

Shafp Report, pp. 7-8.
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plane's intentions. At 9:07 P.M. the Mirage launched an
Exocet missile from a range of akout twenty-two miles. A
minute later the plane launched a second Exocet missilzs at a
range of about fifteen miles. Stark was sending a second
warning to the Iraqi plane when the second missile was
launched. Stark's electronic warfare system detected the
homing radars on the Exocet missiles, but they were misiden-
tified as the Mirage's radar in a fire control mode. Stark
did not detect the missiles on radar. The Tactical Action
Officer (TAO) ordered initial defensive actions after the
missiles were launched, but the response was too late to be
effective. First detection of the missiles was a sighting
by a lookout, who did not recognize them as missiles and
sound a warning until seconds before they struck.117

At 9:09 P.M. the first missile impacted the port side
of Stark, but failed to explode. About twenty seconds later
the second missile struck the ship near where the first had
struck, exploding just inside the ship. The blast tore a
large hole in the port side and unexpended fuel from the
missiles started an intense fire that required nearly a day
to extinguish. Thirty-seven men died and several were

wounded in the attack.118

117Sharp Report, pp. 1-3, 8-14; "Staff Investigation,"

pp. 7-18; Vlahos, pp. 64-65.
118Sharp Report, pp. 14-15; "Sta.: Investigation," pp.
18-20; Vlahos, pp. 64-65.
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Two Saudi F-15 fighters had scrambled as the Iraqi jet
flew down their coast, but their ground controllers refused
to let them pursue the Mirage after the attack. No U.S.
ships or aircraft attempted to engage the Iraqi plane before
the attack and none were able to engage it after the
attack. Stark was towed into Bahrain harbor for temporary
repairs by a U.S. Navy tender before beginning the long
voyage back to the United States.119

The United States delivered a formal diplomatic
protest to Iraq and demanded a full explanation for the
attack. Reagan Administration spokesmen described the
incident as an accident, a case of mistaken identity. The
uU.s. also»stated that it expected an apology and compensa-
tion for the men who died and the damage to the ship. The
Joint Chiefs of Staff revised the rules of engagement for
Middle East Force ships, requiring radio warnings and defen-
sive measures be taken at longer ranges, and emphasizing
that all aircraft approaching U.S. Navy ships must be

treated as potentially hostile.120

119"Staff Investigation,"” pp. 20-22; "Saudis Balked at
Intercepting Iraqi Attacker,” New York Times, May 21, 1987,
p. Al.

120Sharp Report, p. 7; "Staff Investigation," p. 6:
"Iraqi Missile Hits U.S. Navy Frigate in Persian Gulf," New
York Times, May 18, 1987, p. Al; "Iraqi Missile Hits U.S.
Warship; 30 Missing, 3 Dead," Los Angeles Times, May 18,
1987, p. 1; "Missile Toll on Frigate is 28," New York Times,
May 19, 1987, p. Al; "Ship Deaths at 28; Iraq, Iran Warned,"
Los Angeles Times, May 19, 1987, p. 1.
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Iraq formally accepted responsibility fc: the attack,
expressing "profound regret" and calling it an "uninten-
tional incident," and presented a compensation proposal to
the United States. 1Iraqi spokesmen stated that the pilot
believed he was attacking an Iranian ship and had not heard
the warnings broadcast by Stark. 1Iraq also claimed Stark
had been ten miles inside the Iranian Exclusion Zone, a
charge the U.S. refuted. 1Iraq and the U.S. later reached an
agreement on measures to prevent inadvertent attacks on U.S.
Navy ships, but incidents continued to occur in which U.S.
ships had to warn off Iraqi aircraft. In some cases Iraqi
planes veered away only seconds before they would have been
shot down. 1Iraqi pilots did not cease their indiscriminate
attacks on whatever ships they happened to detect on radar

in the Persian Gulf.121

Findings

This section will review the 1987 attack on Stark to
answer the four research questions. The first question is
did interactions at the tactical and political levels become
decoupled during or after the attack on Stark? There was no

decoupling in the Stark incident. The attack lasted only a

121Sharp Report, p. 16; "Staff Investigation," pp. 8-
9; "Missile Toll on Frigate is 28," New York Times, May 19,
1987, p. Al; "Ship Deaths at 28; Iran, Iraq Warned," Los
Angeles Times, May 19, 1987, p. 1; "U.S. and Iraq Act to
Prevent Raids," New York Times, May 30, 1987, p. 1;:
O'Rourke, p. 32.
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few minutes and was over before any other units could employ
their weapons in support of Stark. The identity of the
attacking aircraft was known well before the attack, and
military commanders at the scene quickly concluded that the
attack had been inadvertent. No effort was made to shoot
down the Iraqi plane because no U.S. forces were in a
position to do so. The only sense in which actions at the
tactical level failed to support national policy was that
Stark failed to take defensive actions authorized under the
rules of engagement.

The second question is, when stratified interactions
become decoupled, what factors inhibit escalation from
occurring at the tactical level and being transmitted upward
to the strategic and political levels of interaction? The
Stark incident illustrates an escalation-inhibiting factor:
accurate intelligence on friendly and potentially hostile
forces. Because the attacking aircraft was known to have
been Iraqgi, there was no question that Iran might have been
responsible for the attack on Stark. Without such
intelligence, U.S. commanders in the Persian Gulf probably
would have suspected that Iran had conducted the attack.
Circumstantial evidence pointing to Iranian complicity and
lack of an Iraqi admission of responsibility could well have
led to the President ordering retaliatory attacks on Iranian
forces or bases. This situation is analogous to that

described in the Liberty incident, when accurate information
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on Soviet forces in the Me"itzrranean pro>vented U.S.
military commanders from suspecting that the Soviets had
attacked Liberty.

It appears that inadvertent escalation would be more
likely when intelligence is incomplete and ambiguous,
supporting worst-case assessments of the nature and
implications of an attack on U.S. forces. For example, on-
scene commanders could conclude that full-scale attacks on
U.S. forces at the scene of the crisis will soon follow,
placing a premium on preempting the expected enemy attack.
Under certain circumstances on-scene commanders might have
authority to preempt without having to seek permission from
higher authority.

The third question is did actions taken with naval
forces send inadvertent political signals to adversaries or
allies, and did inadvertent military incidents occur that
affected crisis management efforts? Neither of these
problems arose after the attack on §§§£g, but the attack
itself was an inadvertent military incident. The attack on
Stark illustrates the danger of inadvertent military
incidents when U.S. naval forces are operating in close
proximity to hostilities.

The fourth question is did any of the three tensions
between political and military considerations arise during

the response to the attack on Stark? None of the three

tensions was present because the incident was brief and the
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attack was known to have been inadvertent. U.S. Navy ships
in the Persian Gulf had ample authority under the rules of
engagement to use force in self-defense or anticipatory self-
defense. Nevertheless, Navy commanders in the Persian Gulf
had been placed in a complex and dangerous tactical environ-
ment. There was great risk of U.S. ships being attacked
inadvertently or deliberately, and equally great risk of
political embarrassment to the United States if civilian of
friendly military aircraft were shot down. Rules of engage-
ment cannot eliminate the dangers and risks inherent in such
an environment, they can, at best, reduce the likelihood of
incidents with undesirable political or military

consequences.

Circumstances and Motives

Comparing the circumstances in which the four inci-
dents occurred and the. possible motives of the attackers
will shed further light on the nature of peacetimes attacks

on U.S. Navy ships.

Circumstances of Peacetime Attacks

There are important similarities in the international
circumstances of the attacks. 1In all four cases some form
of conflict, tensions, or rivalry among the major powers
structured the environment and affected American interests

sufficiently to compel limited U.S. involvement. In three
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of the cases (Tonkin Gulf, Liberty, and Pueblo) Soviet-
American cold war rivalry was a source of tension, and in
one case (Stark) Soviet-American competition for influence
in the Middle East was a major U.S. concern.

In all four cases some form of armed conflict was in
progress. In three cases (Tonkin Gulf, Liberty, and Stark)
a local armed conflict was being fought at the time of the
incident. In the Pueblo case an intense ideological and
political rivalry, held in check only by an uneasy military
armistice, had recently escalated to a high level of
tension--accompanied by a series of military clashes and a
significant rise in casualties. In all of the cases U.S.
Nav